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HIGHLIGHTS

o DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE ROSE 24% TO $2.04.
o ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT GREW 14% TO $273 BILLION.

o NET NEW BUSINESS EXCEEDED $42 BILLION, BEFORE GIVING EFFECT TO
OVER $17 BILLION OF REBALANCING AND PNC-RELATED OUTFLOWS.

° ASSETS MANAGED FOR DOMESTIC INSTITUTIONS INCRFASED 15% TO $199 BILLION.
¢ ASSETS MANAGED FOR INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTIONS ROSE 34% TO $44 BILLION.
° FIXED INCOME ASSETS GREW 30% TO $176 BILLION.

o AVERAGE LIQUIDITY ASSETS WERE UP 9% TO $76 BILLION.

° INTERNATIONAL EQUITY ASSETS INCREASED 3% TO $9 BILLION.
e BLACKROCK SOLUTIONS REVENUE ROSE BY MORE THAN 50%.

o ESTABLISHED SMALL AND MID CAP GROWTH EQUITY TEAM IN BOSTON.
¢ ACQUIRED EQUITY HEDGE FUND MANAGER, CYLLENIUS CAPITAL.

* ADDED HIGH NET WORTH AND PRIVATE CLIENT DISTRIBUTION TEAMS.

o HIRED 5-PERSON LARGE CAP QUANTITATIVE EQUITY TEAM IN FEBRUARY 2003.
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Years ended December 31,

(in thousands of dollars, except per-shave data) H 2002 ( 2001 2000
Revenue $576,977 $533,144 $476,872
Operating Income 215,139 170,176 143,038
Net Income 133,249 107,434 87,361
EBITDA®) 244,869 207,773 170,767
Operating Margin(b) 40.1% 36.0% 35.7%

Per Common Share:

Diluted Earnings 2.04 1.65 1.35
Book Value 9.78 7.54 5.75
Assets Under Management (in millions) 272,841 238,584 203,769

(a) Eavrnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.
(&) Operating income divided by total vevenue less fund administration and servicing costs-affiliates.







CHAIRMAN’S LETTER

Z O O Z was one of the most difficult years in memory for global investors. Threats

of terrorism and impending war cast a pall on market psychology. Weakening
economies here and abroad impaired investor confidence and forestalled the possibility of
sustained recovery. Bond markets were plagued by volatility akin to equities, with findings of
fraud and bankruptcies of major debt issuers. Stock markets suffered substantial declines for
a third consecutve year. The resulting loss of wealth has been staggering and has forced both
institutional and individual investors to reexamine their investment strategies and to seek new

solutions to the age-old challenge of providing adequately for an uncertain future.

Throughout these challenging times, BlackRock has set itself apart as an investment manager

that helps clients solve problems. These capabilities helped us generate net new business of
$25 billion during the year, driving a 14% increase in total assets under management to $273

billion. We continued to expand our client base, adding $17 billion of net fundings from

domestic institutions, $10 billion from international investors and $2 billion in new closed-

end bond funds. BlackRock Solutions also added significant new risk management and

investment system outsourcing assignments, growing revenues more than 50% in 2002. All

of these efforts contributed to an industry-leading 24% growth in earnings to $2.04 per’
diluted share.

Our strong results in 2002 reflect the hard work of our entire organizaton. Although I have
said it many dmes, it bears repeating: our people are our most important asset. But BlackRock
is much more than a collection of talented individuals — we are a unified team working

together on a daily basis to meet our clients’ expectations. Throughout our organization, we




share a culture of excellence, recognizing that every employee has the power to positively
influence a client’s perception of BlackRock. We encourage open and active dialogues
firmwide to facilitate a broad understanding of our business, reconsider legacy processes and

pursue opportunities for improvement.

During 2002, we made key investments to enhance BlackRock’s distribution capabilities. In
particular, we added experienced marketing and client service professionals to support our
existing domestic and global institutional efforts, including expanding our ability to serve
middle market investors. We also attracted experienced teams to serve high net worth
investors and to enhance our private client distribution capabilities. At the end of the year,
we combined all of these efforts on a unified platform to achieve greater consistency in the
delivery of our products and services and to enhance cross-selling efforts across all channels.

For the past two years, we have talked openly about our need to upgrade our domestic
equity effort. Much of that work has now been completed. In January 2002, we introduced
our Boston-based small and mid cap value team. During the course of the year, we
established a fundamental small and mid cap growth effort anchored by a team formerly with
MES Investment Management. We also restructured our opportunistic growth team and
products in Wilmington. Finally, in February 2003, we hired an experienced quantitative
equity team to lead our domestic large cap effort. Quantitative equity management shares
the highly disciplined investment and risk management philosophy that defines BlackRock’s
fixed income business, a fact that we believe will be very powerful in our cross-selling efforts

over tme,

I am often asked what asset mix or revenue mix we are targeting. As far as I am concerned,
there is no “right” mix. If equities grow, but remain a relatively small portion of our asset
base because fixed income continues to prosper, our shareholders will have been well served.
In general, if we are able to deliver what we promise to investors, we will strengthen our rela-
tonships, add high quality revenues and be successful in implementing our strategies. Given
the market environmerit, it is impossible to say how long it will take to gauge the success of
our equity effort. If the stock markets remain weak, we may look back and wonder if we
invested in restructuring our equity business too early. Then again, it would be imprudent
to try to time the market when finding top quality investment professionals and ensuring

organizational fit are of paramount importance to building a world-class investment manager.

Without doubt, 2002 was exceedingly challenging. 2003 could be even more so. The federal
government is again facing deficits that will only grow as the war on terrorism expands. State
and local governments are facing budget shortfalls of mammoth proportions. Contnuing
weak business conditions have caused corporate investment to slow dramatically. Consumer
spending, which has helped prop up the economy, is threatened by growing unemployment,
wage pressure, and rising medical costs, tuition and taxes. Insurance companies are under
increasing capital pressure. Banks, having largely retreated from corporate lending, are

extending out the yield curve to support spread income. On sharply reduced revenues,




brokerage firms are cutdng costs and redirecting capital to proprietary trading, reducing

market liquidity. Pension plans faced with funding shortfalls are reconsidering asset alloca-

tion strategies, and their conclusions could have a significant impact on markets worldwide.

BlackRock is well positioned to help our clients navigate their investment challenges, and
I remain convinced that we will have tremendous opportunities to build on our existing capa-
bilies and expand in new directions. Nonetheless, we are mindful of the environment in
which we are operating. While we cannot control the markets, we can and will be intelligent
about where we allocate resources and how we prioritize spending. As in past years, our first
priority is to protect our franchise by ensuring appropriate focus on BlackRock’s flagship
products and on serving our clients. In addition, we must integrate our new capabilities and
capitalize on the investments we have made over the past 15 months. These are significant
commitments that must be sadsfied to support BlackRock’s future success.

Perpetuating our business model and cultivating our corporate culture as our product line
expands and our employee base grows globally is among our most difficult and critical chal-
lenges. We continue to believe that BlackRock’s integrated team approach is the best way to
build a franchise capable of creating shareholder value in a variety of business and market
environments, but it is obviously dependent on being able to retain and attract talented
professionals. Accordingly, we are constantly refining our compensation programs to help us
meet these challenges while ensuring that employee incentives are aligned with the interests
of our clients and shareholders. This past year, for example, we worked closely with PNC to
develop a new long-term retenton and incentive plan that includes a substantal perform-
ance-based deferred compensation pool.

Looking forward, I remain very excited about BlackRock’s opportunites. Inevitably, there
will be bumps in the road, but I derive great confidence from the quality of our employees
and the pride that they take in their work. They know, as I do, that our future success lies in
their collective efforts to serve our clients, manage our business with discipline and strength-
en our franchise. We also benefit immeasurably from the guidance provided by our Board
of Directors, which has been expanded to include two additional independent directors who
will contribute vast global experience to our efforts. Finally, I want to express my apprecia-
tion to our clients and shareholders for their continued confidence in BlackRock - the entire
BlackRock team remains fully committed to maintaining that confidence as we build our

business.

Sincerely,

(P

Laurence D. Fink
Chairman and CEO
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HIGHLIGHTS

O More than 2,000
institutional clients
in 33 countries
worldwide.

O Client base includes
147 of Fortune 500

companies, including

half of the top 100
and 8 of the top 10.

O 50 client relation-
ships exceed
$1 billion in total
assefs under
management,

O $7.4 billion of net
new business
from U.S. pension
plans and other
tax-exempt institu-
tional investars.

O $6.4 billion of
net inflows in
BlackRaock Provident
Institutional Funds
and offshore
liquidity funds.

OUR CLIENTS

lackRock’s primary mission is to serve our clients with competitive investment products,
Beffecdve risk management solutions, and the highest quality service. One of the key
measures of success in fulfilling our mission is net new business, which totaled $35 billion in
2002 across all channels other than PNC. We also made key investments during the year to
expand our ability to serve middle market institutions, high net worth investors and private
clients. At the end of the year, we consolidated all of these efforts on a unified marketing and
client service platform, which we believe will enable us to better leverage our relationships
and cross-sell BlackRock’s products and services.

Our largest client base continues to be domestic tax-exempt institutions, including public
and private pension plans, foundations and endowments. At year-end 2002, these investors
represented 30% of our total assets under management, with $81 billion managed for 270
separate account clients. Our new business efforts yielded $7.4 billion of net inflows during
the year, overcoming approximately $7.7 billion of outflows resultng from client rebalanc-
ing of bond/equity allocations. We have benefited from manager consolidation by pension
plans, and we continue to see tremendous opportunity to broaden our existing reladonships
and to attract new clients as our product line and distribution capabilities expand.

Domestic insttutional liquidity assets totaled $68 billion at December 31, 2002, or 25%
of total assets under management. During the year, $6.1 billion of net inflows in our U.S.
institutional money market funds were offset by $5.9 billion of net outflows in securities
lending and other liquidity separate accounts. A variety of institutions use our liquidity prod-
ucts, including bank trusts, corporations and municipalities, and their investment activity
is supported by a dedicated client service team and selected software applications. In 2003,
we will continue to pursue incremental penetration in this highly competitive market and

seek to better serve these clients through expanded cross-selling efforts.

During 2002, assets managed for domestic taxable institutions grew to $50 billion, or 18% of
total assets under management at year-end. Growth came principally from insurance clients,
where we capitalized on the changing industry landscape and added $8.2 billion in net new
business. By offering a comprehensive suite of services, including portfolio management,
strategic advice, asset/liability management, portfolio hedging and investment accounting
services, we have established BlackRock as one of the largest independent managers of insur-
ance assets in the United States. In early 2003, we added a senior portfolio manager with
extensive industry experience, enhancing our ability to serve insurers and banks as they

expand their investment outsourcing actvity.




OUR CLIENTS contp

BlackRock continued to expand its global presence in 2002, increasing assets managed for
international clients to $44 billion, or 16% of total assets under management at year-end.
During the year, we raised $3.0 billion from offshore insurance companies and $7.4 billion
from other institutional investors in Europe, Asia and the Middle East through our direct
marketing efforts in Edinburgh, Tokyo and Hong Kong and through our alliances with
Nomura in Japan and Westpac in Australia. BlackRock is poised to benefit from increased
global focus on risk-adjusted returns and risk management capabilities, particularly as
our global name recognition improves and additional local distribution capabilities are
established.

A significant percentage of our separate account assets are shared relationships with institu-
tonal consultants, who advise our clients on actuarial analysis, asset allocation, manager
search, selection and monitoring. To enhance coordination and comprehensive service,
we establish three-way parmerships with our clients and their consultants, sharing insights
about the markets and industry trends and providing regular updates on BlackRock’s business
and investment performance. These efforts, which are supported by a dedicated consultant
marketing group, have contributed substantally to our new business efforts, helping us
achieve a 29% compound annual growth rate in separate account assets under management

over the past five years.

Individual investors are served through two distinct efforts that collectively represented $30
billion, or 11% of total assets under management at year-end 2002. Our private client group
focuses on wholesale distribution of BlackRock’s mutual funds and managed accounts
through national and regional broker dealers, financial planners and PNC. Our wealth
management group offers traditdonal and alternative investuments directly to high net
worth investors and family offices. New business efforts in 2002 resulted in $2.9 billion of
net inflows in new closed-end funds and separate accounts for high net worth investors,
which were overwhelmed by a 25% decline in open-end fund assets resulting principally
from equity market declines and $5.0 billion of outflows from PNC-related accounts.
We expect that the addidon of senior professionals in both of these efforts will help us

increase assets managed for individual investors over time.

HIGHLIGHTS

O $9.2 billion of net
new busingss from
domestic insurance
companies and other
taxable institutions.

O $10.4 billion of net
new business from
international clients
in 2002.

O $2.1 billion raised
in new closed-end
bond funds during
the year.

O Formalized high net
worth effort with
addition of dedicated
professionals in
April 2002,

O Attracted experi-
enced team in
November 2002 to
enhance private
client distribution
canabilities.
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HIGHLIGHTS

O One of the three
largest active U.S.
bond managers
worldwide.

O Fixed income
assets increased
30% to $176 billion
under management
at year-end.

O 27% five-year
compound annual
growth rate,
supported by $27
billion of net new
business in 2002.

O Increasingly
diversified product
mix, with strong
inflows during 2002
in global bond and

high yield mandates.

O Maintained strong
long-term track
record of competi-
tive investment
performance.

FIXED INCOME

ixed income investors faced deteriorating credit quality, defaults, bankruptcies and

fraud, as well as ongoing threats of terrorism and war throughout 2002. While not
immune to the hostile market environment, adherence to our disciplined investment
process enabled us to achieve competitive investment performance for our clients. We
ended the year with $176 billion of fixed income assets under management. Net new
business exceeded $27 billion, with strong growth across an increasingly diverse product
mix. For example, high yield accounts were up 60% to $2.3 billion and global bond
mandates quadrupled to $5.1 billion.

During the year, we continued to enhance our fixed income capabilides. In addition to
attracting additional experienced investment professionals, we took steps to hone our risk
analytics and ensure optimal use of our quantitative capabilities in the investment process.
We also devoted considerable resources to the development of a proprietary credit risk
management system that enables us to efficiently aggregate company data, analyst research
and holdings information across the entire firm. By the end of the year, these capabilities
were in production, adding further depth to our investment process.

Despite the difficult environment, more than three-quarters of our fixed income composites
ranked in the top two peer group quartiles for the one, three, five, seven and ten-year
periods ended December 31, 2002.* Our fixed income-related alternative investments,
which represent another $5.2 billion in assets under management, navigated treacherous
terrain, with real estate portfolios benefiting from lower rates and collateralized bond
obligations hurt by adverse high yield markets. Our fixed income hedge funds closed the year
on a positive note after sustaining losses mid-year on yield curve positioning, increased

voladility and corporate credit events.

Fixed income remains at the heart of BlackRock’s franchise, representing 64% of our total
assets under management at year-end. Our success is a direct result of our strong long-term
investment performance, which in turn reflects the efforts of our entire team to meet our
clients’ expectations. Our investment professionals work closely with BlackRock Solutions,
client service, operations and administration personnel to implement investment strategies
efficiently and effectively. Their combined talent and efforts have enabled us to achieve 27%
compound annual growth in fixed income assets under management over the past five years

and are the basis upon which we will strive to continue to build a successful business.

* See performance notes on inside back cover.




LIQUIDITY

iquidity assets, including money market funds, totaled $79 billion at year-end 2002,
Lrepresent'mg 29% of BlackRock’s total assets under management. Flows remained
volatile, declining steadily throughout much of the year before rebounding sharply in the
fourth quarter following the Federal Reserve’s November rate cut. Over the course of the

year, assets averaged $76 billion, corresponding to a 9% increase over average assets in 2001.

BlackRock Provident Institutional Funds (BPIF), our institutional money market fund
family, represented 72% of total liquidity assets, with the remainder invested in BlackRock
Funds money market funds and a variety of accounts for securities lending and other liquidity
investors. The favorable rate environment and a strong sales effort supported $6.4 billion
of inflows in BPIF and offshore liquidity funds, which was partially offset by $3.4 billion
of outflows in retail money market funds and separate accounts. At the same time, sustained
adverse equity market conditions continued to cause volatility in securities lending portfolios,
which experienced net outflows of $4.3 billion.

Investment performance has remained compettive, with all of our institutional and retail
funds ranked in the top two peer quartiles for the one, three, five, seven and ten-year periods
ended December 31, 2002.* Our four largest insdtutional funds, with aggregate assets
exceeding $51 billion, ranked in the top quartile during those same periods. BlackRock’s
continued success in delivering consistently competitive performance is a testament to our
liquidity team’s commitment to conservative money management, which emphasizes
stability and safety of principal and is backed by an unsurpassed risk management culture
tound throughout the BlatkRock organization.

We are also taking measured steps to expand our product line and distribudon capabilites.
During 2002, we introduced Euro- and Sterling-denominated liquidity funds for inter-
national investors and added sales professionals in the U.S. and Europe. While others in the
industry have employed aggressive pricing and/or investment practices to attract assets, we
have maintained, and will continue to maintain, a very disciplined approach to managing
our liquidity business, choosing instead to pursue incremental market share on the basis of
consistent performance and superior client service. At some point in the future, however,
the economy will recover and the Federal Reserve will reverse its two-yearlong accom-
modative stance. When that happens, liquidity investors may redeploy assets in direct
capital market investments, which would lead to an industry wide decline in liquidity assets

under management.
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HIGHLIGHTS

O One of the ten
largest managers of
institutional manay
market funds in the
United States.

O Average liquidity
assets under
management
increased 9% to
$76 billion in 2002.

O 15% five-year
compound annual
growth rate,
supported by
strong sales and
service efforts
and favorable rate
environment.

O Introduced Euro- and
Sterling-denominated
liquidity funds for
international institu-
tional investors.

O Maintained com-
petitive investment
performance without
compromising
conservative credit,
maturity or tiquidity
biases.
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B Domestic
O International



HIGHLIGHTS

O International eguity

assets up 3% to

$9 billion under
management at
year-end, supported
by $2.1 billion of net
new business.

O Domestic equity

assets down 53% to
$4.5 billion under
management at
year-end, hurt by
both sharp market
declines and sub-
stantial outflows.

O Restructured

domestic equity
capabhilities, adding
new small and mid
cap growth and
large cap quantita-
tive equity teams.

Search activity has
increased and is
expected to expand
as new teams are
integrated.

EQUITIES

M ajor equity markets worldwide fell in 2002, marking the first time in over 60 years that
equities have realized negative returns for three consecutive years. Although equities
represent a small portion of BlackRock’s total asset base, we were not immune from the
adverse effects of the markets, as equity assets under management declined 26% to $13.5
billion at year-end 2002. In the face of this exceptionally difficult environment, we made
significant investments to restructure BlackRock’s domestic equity management capabilities,
adding investment expertise upon which we believe we can build a more robust business

over time.

Net new business of $2.1 billion in international equity products enabled BlackRock to
overcome double digit market declines and close the year up 3% to $9 billion. Investment
results during the year were mixed, with Pacific Basin accounts finishing ahead of the index
and European portfolios falling short of their benchmarks, principally as a result of poor
performance in the second half of the year. Although we consistently strive to achieve strong
relative returns, volatility is expected given the risk profile of these equity products. We
remain confident in our international equity team and their investment process, and look

forward to returning to historical levels of strong relative performance.

Domestic equity assets declined 53% to $4.5 billion at year-end, largely due to market
depreciation and outflows in PNC-related accounts. Over the past 15 months, we have’
substantially restructured our domestic equity effort, hiring experienced small and mid cap
value and growth professionals and acquiring equity hedge fund manager, Cyllenius Capital.
Our most critical priority has been to ensure continuity in each new team’s process and
performance. Accordingly, new business flows lag our restructuring efforts, although the
tourth quarter funding of $165 million in separate accounts and a growing pipeline of new
business opportunities are early signs of positive momentum.

In February 2003, we completed the restructuring of our equity business with the addition of
a large cap quantitative equity team that shares BlackRock’ highly disciplined investment and
risk management philosophy. As our annual report goes to print, however, global equity
markets are down on pressure from European pension plan selling and geopolitical uncer-
tainty, and the uming of an economic recovery remains uncertain. It may be some time,
therefore, before global equity markets return to more normalized performance. When they
do, however, BlackRock will be well positioned to better serve our clients with a variety of
attractive equity products.



BLACKROCK SOLUTIONS®

T he tumultuous market environment of the past several years has illuminated the
critical need for sound risk management, which has been the very foundation of
BlackRock’s investment philosophy and process since the inception of the firm. Through
BlackRock Solutions, we offer a variety of services to help institutional investors monitor
and manage their balance sheet risks and the operational risks associated with their
investment activities. In 2002, nine new clients chose to initiate relationships with BlackRock

Solutdons, and revenue increased by more than 50% over 2001.

A growing universe of world-class financial institutions, mortgage banks, insurance compa-
nies, pension plans and corporations have turned to BlackRock Solutions for risk reporting
(the Green Package™), risk management consulting, hedging advice, statutory investment

™

accounting and real dme risk analytic tools (ANSER™). These relationships typically require
ongoing services and are often delivered in conjunction with investment management
services. Clients also call on BlackRock Solutions for shorter-term assistance on strategic
initiatives, such as portfolio liquidations or restructuring in connection with planned business
divestitures. At year-end 2002, we had 38 risk management and investment accounting

assignments.

A growing number of institutional investors have selected BlackRock Solutions” enterprise
investiment system (Aladdin®) outsourcing services to support their internal investment oper-
adons. These relationships require substantial resources to implement the system at the
client’s site, assist with process reengineering, tailor functionality to serve the client’s unique
needs, and provide ongoing user support. Depending on the client’s size and complexity,
implementation can take a year or more, with a contractual commitment of five to ten years.
As of year-end 2002, six implementations had been completed and a seventh was in process.

BlackRock Solutions continues to represent an important initiative for BlackRock. We
created the platform to support our own operations and we rely on it throughont our organ-
izadon. In addition, these services offer significant potential for revenue enhancement
and diversification over dme. Indeed, the resurgence in global focus on investment and
operational risk management is contributing to increased interest in BlackRock Solutions,
which bodes well for our future growth opportunites. We remain committed, however, to
managing the growth of the business to ensure the highest quality client service which, in

turn, should enable us to maximize shareholder value over time.

HIGHLIGHTS

O Increased BlackRock
Solutions revenues
by mare than 50%
since 2001.

O QOver $2 trillion of
assets, liahilities and
derivative positions
on proprietary risk
management system,
Aladdin®.

O Added eleven and
finished three risk
management
assignments, and
completed three
system implementa-
tions during 2002.

O Continued to build
premier client base,
including financial
institutions, insurance
companies, asset
managers, mortgage
banks, pension plans
and corporations.

O Rolled out
BlackRock's
proprietary credit
risk management
system.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The consolidated financial statements of BlackRock include the  presented below bas been devived in part from, and should be read
“carved out” bistorical operating vesults of the asset management  in conjunction with, the consolidated financial statements of
businesses of PNC which were consolidated under BlackRock in BlackRock and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
1998 as if the combined operations had been a separate emtity  Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere
prior to the formation of BlackRock. The selected financial data in this Annual Report.

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data or otherwise stated) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Income statement data
Revenue
Investment advisory and administration fees:
Mutual funds $212,214 $217,361 $229,259 $214,728 $162,487
Separate accounts i 306,951 278,126 223,521 154,046 101,352
BlackRock Asset Investors (BAI)(D ! — — — (7,072) 61,199
Total advisory and administration fees 519,165 495,487 452,780 361,702 325,038
Other income 57,812 37,657 24,092 19,279 14,444
Total revenue 576,977 533,144 476,872 380,981 339,482
Expense
Employee compensation and benefits 230,634 215,118 189,684 138,025 109,741
BAI incentive compensation( — — — (5,387) 44,806
Fund administration and servicing costs-affiliates 40,304 60,829 75,686 78,666 52,972
General and administration 90,076 76,567 58,311 48,570 38,696
Amortization of intangible assets® i 824 10,454 10,153 9,653 9,653
Closed-end fund offering costs — — — S11 4,252
Total expense | 361,838 362,968 333,834 270,038 260,120
Operating income 215,139 170,176 143,038 110,943 79,362
Non-operating income (expense) i
Investment income 9,492 11,576 7,734 - 3,445 1,995
Interest expense (683) {761) (855) (10,938) (13,347)
8,809 10,815 6,879 (7,493) (11,352)
Income before income taxes 223,948 180,991 149,917 103,450 68,010
Income taxes 90,699 73,557 62,556 44,033 32,395
Net income $133,249 $107,434 $87,361 $59,417 $35,615
Per share data (unaudited)
Basic earnings $2.06 $1.67 $1.37 $1.04 $0.67
Diluted earnings 2.04 1.65 1.35 1.04 0.66
Book value i 9.78 7.54 5.75 439 o194
Market value 39.40 41.70 42.00 17.19 N/A
Cash dividends declared per common share N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Balance sheet data
Cash and cash equivalents i $255,234 $186,451 $192,590 $157,129 $113,450
Investments i 208,743 139,126 13,316 2,255 2,515
Intangible assets, net | 182,827 181,688 192,142 194,257 203,910
Other assets N 217,384 177,213 138,955 93,941 120,909
Total assets I 864,188 684,478 537,003 447,582 440,784
Long-term debt _— — — 28,200 178,200
Total liabilities 229,534 198,361 168,762 167,056 334,593
Stockholders’ equity 634,654 486,117 368,241 280,526 106,191
Other financial data (unaudited)
Assets under management (Dollar amounts in millions)
Separate accounts:
Fixed income $156,574 $119,488 $103,561 $73,120 $50,933
Liquidity 5,491 6,831 6,495 7,902 6,423
Securities lending 6,433 10,781 11,501 13,032 7,403
Equity 9,736 9,577 8,716 3,080 2,417
Alternative investment products 5,279 5,309 3,470 2,086 1,936
Subtotal 183,513 151,986 133,743 99,22.0 69,112
Muruaal funds:
Fixed income 19,012 15,754 13,317 13,318 13,888
Liquidity 66,588 ) 62,141 43,190 36,587 35,555
Equity 3,728 8,703 13,519 15,392 12,087
Subtotal 89,328 86,598 70,026 65,297 61,530
Total : $272,841 $238,584 $203,769 $164,517 $130,642

) Pursuant to a plan of liquidation, the assers of BAI were sold in 1999 and its business operations terminated.

@ Amortization of intangible assets decreased due to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” further
described in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

N/A - Not applicable



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

BlackRock, Inc., a Delaware corporation (together, with its
subsidiaries, “BlackRock” or the “Company™), is one of the
largest publicly traded investment management firms in the
United States with approximately $272.8 billion of assets
under management at December 31, 2002. BlackRock man-
ages assets on behalf of institutional and individual investors
worldwide through a variety of equity, fixed income, liquid-
ity and alternative investment separate accounts and mutual
funds, including BlackRock Funds and BlackRock Provident
Institutional Funds (“BPIF”). In addidon, BlackRock provides
risk management and investment system services and products
to institutional investors under the BlackRock Solutions name.

BlackRock is a majority-owned indirect subsidiary of The
PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. (“PNC”), one of the
largest diversified financial services companies in the United
States, operating businesses engaged in regional community
banking, corporate banking, real estate finance, asset-based
lending, wealth management, asset management and global
fund services. As of December 31, 2002, PNC indirectly owns
approximately 69%, the public owns approximately 17% and
BlackRock employees own approximately 14% of BlackRock.

The following table summarizes BlackRock’s operating per-
formance for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000:

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Year ended Variance vs.
December 31, 2002 vs. 2001 2001 vs, 2000

T am
gﬁgfﬂ,’;r:ﬂﬁ " f,fZ%’;fj}md) 2002 2001 2000 Amount % Amount %
Total revenue $576,977 $533,144 $476,872 $43,833 8% $56,272 12%
Total expense $361,838 $362,968 $333,834 ($1,130) 0% $29,134 9%
Operating income $215,139 $170,176 $143,038 $44,963 26% $27,138 19%
Net income $133,249 $107,434 $87,361 $25,815 24% $20,073 23%
Diluted earnings per share $2.04 $1.65 $1.35 $0.39 24% $0.30 22%
Average diluted shares

outstanding 65,307,548 § 64,926,199 64,590,707 381,349 1% 335,492 1%
EBITDA® $244,869 $207,773 $170,767 $37,096 18% $37,006 22%
Operating margin® 40.1% 36.0% 35.7%
Assets under management

(Dollar amounts in miilions) $272,841 $238,584 $203,769 $34,257 14% $34,815 17%

@ "EBITDA" represents earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.

® Operating income divided by total revenne less fund administration and servicing costs-affiliates.

GENERAL

BlackRock derives a substantial portion of its revenue from
investment advisory and administration fees, which are rec-
ognized as the services are performed. Such fees are primar-
ily based on predetermined percentages of the market value
of assets under management and are affected by changes in
assets under management, including market appreciation or
depreciation and net subscriptions or redemptions. Net sub-
scriptions or redemptions represent the sum of new client
assets, additional fundings from existing clients, withdrawals
of assets from and termination of client accounts and pur-
chases and redemptions of mutual fund shares.

Investinent advisory agreements for certain separate accounts
and BlackRock’s alternative investment products provide for
performance fees in addition to fees based on assets under
management. Performance fees generally are earned when
investment performance exceeds a contractual threshold and,
accordingly, may increase the volatility of BlackRock’s revenue
and earnings.

BlackRock provides a variety of risk management and invest-
ment system services to insurance companies, finance

companies, pension funds, foundations, consultants, mutual
fund sponsors, REI'T3, commercial and mortgage banks, sav-
ings institutions and government agencies. These services
are provided under the brand name BlackRock Solutions and
include a wide array of risk management services and enter-
prise investment system outsourcing to clients. Fees earned
for BlackRock Solutions services are either based on predeter-
mined percentages of the market value of assets subject to the
services or on fixed monthly or quarterly payments. The fees
earned on risk management advisory and investment system
assignments are recorded as other income.

Operating expense primarily consists of employee compen-
sation and benefits, fund administration and servicing costs-
affiliates, general and administration, and amortization of
intangible assets. Employee compensation and benefits
expense reflects salaries, deferred and incentive compensation
and related benefit costs. Fund administration and servicing
costs-affiliates expense reflects payments made to PNC affil-
iated entities, primarily associated with the administration
and servicing of PNC client investments in the BlackRock




Funds. Intangible assets at December 31, 2002 and Decem-
ber 31, 2001 were $182.8 million and $181.7 million,
respectvely, with amortization expense of approximately $0.8
million, $10.5 million and $10.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Intangible
assets primarily reflect PNC’s acquisition of BlackRock

Financial Management, L.P. (“BFM”) on February 28, 1995,
a management contract acquired in connection with the
agreement and plan of merger of CORE Cap, Inc. with
Anthracite Capital, Inc., 2 BlackRock managed REIT, on
May 15, 2000 and the acquisition of Cyllenius Capital
Management on November 4, 2002.

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

Assets under management (“AUM?”) increased $34.3 billion,
or 14%, to $272.8 billion at December 31, 2002, compared
with $238.6 billion at December 31, 2001. The growth in
assets under management was attributable to an increase of
$31.5 billion, or 21%, in separate accounts and $2.7 billion,
or 3%, in mutual fund assets.

The increase in separate accounts at December 31, 2002, as
compared with December 31, 2001, was the result of net
subscriptions of $21.3 billion and market appreciation of
$10.2 billion. Net subscriptions in fixed income and equity
separate accounts were $24.4 billion and $2.3 billion, respec-
tvely, while liquidity and liquidity-securities lending separate
account assets experienced net redemptions of $1.4 billion and
$4.3 billion, respectively. The rise in fixed income separate
accounts was primarily attributable to strong relative invest-
ment performance resulting in higher levels of funding from
existing clients as well as increased sales to new clients. Fixed
income net subscriptions of $24.4 billion is net of approxi-
mately $7.7 billion of market rebalancing outflows. The
growth in equity separate account assets primarily reflected
new business generated in the European equity product. The
$4.3 billion decline in liquidity-securities lending separate
accounts reflects lower levels of cash collateral managed by
BlackRock for PFPC Worldwide, Inc. (PFPC), a PNC affil-
iate, associated with PFPC’s securities lending business. Cash
collateral balances generally rise or fall as the equity markets

expand or contract. Market appreciadon of $10.2 billion in
separate accounts was primarily comprised of appreciation in
fixed income assets of $12.6 billion due to declining interest
rates, partially offset by market depreciadon in equity assets
of $2.1 billion.

The $2.7 billion year over year increase in mutual fund assets
reflected net subscriptons of $4.1 billion, which was par-
tially offset by $1.5 billion of market depreciation in the
BlackRock Funds largely associated with the decline in the
equity markets. Net subscriptions in BPIF and closed-end
funds were $6.4 billion and $2.0 billion, respectively, while
BlackRock Funds experienced net redemptions of $4.5 billion.
The increase in BPIF assets was the result of sales driven in
part by the decline in short-term interest rates and investors’
flight to quality. Management assumes that the current level
of BPIF assets will not be sustained unless there are further
declines in short-term interest rates by the Federal Reserve.
The increase in closed-end fund assets was attributable to new
fund launches of $2.6 billion offset by a term trust maturity
of $0.6 billion. Net redemptions in BlackRock Fund assets was
due to withdrawals by PNC related accounts as a result of
the poor relative investment performance in a number of
equity products and, in the case of PNC client accounts,

also the implementation of open architecture strategies
by PNC.

(unaudited) December 31, Variance %
(Dollar amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2000 2002 vs. 2001 2001 vs. 2000
All Accounts
Fixed income $175,586 $135,242 $116,878 29.8% 15.7%
Liquidity 78,512 79,753 61,186 (1.6) 30.3
Equity 13,464 18,280 22,235 (26.3) (17.8)
Alternative investinent products 5,279 5,309 3,470 (0.6) 53.0
Total $272,841 $238,584 $203,769 14.4% 17.1%
Separate Accounts
Fixed income $156,574 $119,488 $103,561 31.0% 15.4%
Liquidity 5,491 6,831 6,495 (19.6) 5.2
Liquidity-Securities lending 6,433 10,781 11,501 (40.3) (6.3)
Equity 9,736 9,577 8,716 1.7 9.9
Alternative investment products 5,279 5,309 3,470 0.6) 53.0
Subtotal 183,513 151,986 133,743 20.7 13.6
Mutual Funds ;
Fixed income 19,012 15,754 13,317 207 18.3
Liquidity 66,588 62,141 43,190 7.2 43.9
Equity 3,728 8,703 13,519 (57.2) (35.6)
Subtotal 89,328 86,598 70,026 3.2 23.7
Total $272,841 $238,584 $203,769 14.4% 17.1%




Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations continued

COMPONENT CHANGES IN ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

The following tables present the component changes in For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
BlackRock’s assets under management for the years ended  net subscriptions were $25.4 billion, $31.3 billion and
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The data ~ $33.0 billion, respectively, and accounted for 74%, 90%
reflects certain reclassifications to conform with the current and 84%, respectively, of the total increase in assets under

year’s presentation. management.

Year ended December 31,
(Dollar amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2000
All Accounts
Beginning assets under management $238,584 $203,769 $164,517
Net subscriptions 25,378 31,318 33,022
Market appreciation 8,879 3,497 6,230
Ending assets under management $272,841 $238,584 $203,769
% of Change in AUM from net subscriptions 74.1% 90.0% 84.1%
Separate Accounts
Beginning assets under management $151,986 $133,743 $99,220
Net subscriptions 21,322 12,030 25,890
Market appreciation 10,205 6,213 8,633
Ending assets under management 183,513 151,986 133,743
Mutual Funds
Beginning assets under management 86,598 70,026 65,297
Net subscriptions 4,056 19,288 7,132
Market depreciation (1,326) (2,716) (2,403)
Ending assets under management 89,328 86,598 70,026

Total $272,841 $238,584 $203,769




Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Separate Accounts
Fixed income
Beginning assets under management $119,488 $103,561 $73,120
Net subscriptions 24,443 8,071 21,568
Market appreciation 12,643 7,856 8,873
Ending assets under management 156,574 119,488 103,561
Liquidity
Beginning assets under management 6,831 | 6,495 7,902
Net subscriptions (redemptions) (1,365) 239 (1,497)
Market appreciation 25 97 90
Ending assets under management 5,491 6,831 6,495
Liquidity-Securities lending
Beginning assets under management 10,781 11,501 13,032
Net redemptions (4,348) (720) (1,531)
Ending assets under management 6,433 10,781 11,501
Equity
Beginning assets under management 9,577 8,716 3,080
Net subscriptions 2,269 2,752 6,224
Market depreciation 2,119) (1,891) (588)
Ending assets under management 9,736 9,577 8,716
Alternative investment products
Beginning assets under management 5,309 3,470 2,086
Net subseriptions 323 1,688 1,126
Market appreciation (depreciation) (353) 151 258
Ending assets under management 5,279 5,309 3,470
Total Separate Accounts
Beginning assets under management 151,986 133,743 99,220
Net subscriptions 21,322 12,030 25,890
Market appreciadon 10,205 6,213 8,633
Ending assets under management $183,513 $151,986 $133,743
Year ended December 31,
(Dollar amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Mutual Funds
Fixed Income
Beginning assets under management $15,754 $13,317 $13,318
Net subscriptions (redemptions) 2,836 2,308 (671)
Market appreciation 422 129 670
Ending assets under management 19,012 15,754 13,317
Liquidity
Beginning assets under management 62,141 43,190 36,587
Net subscriptions 4,443 18,951 6,603
Market appreciation 4 — —
Ending assets under management 66,588 62,141 43,190
Equity
Beginning assets under management 8,703 13,519 15,392
Net subscriptions (redemptions) (3,223) (1,971) 1,200
Market depreciation (1,752) (2,845) (3,073)
Ending assets under management 3,728 ; 8,703 13,519
Total Mutual Funds
Beginning assets under management 86,598 70,026 65,297
Net subscriptions 4,056 19,288 7,132
Market depreciation (1,326) (2,716) (2,403)
Ending assets under management $89,328 $86,598 $70,026




Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations continued

Year ended December 31,
(Dollar amounts in millions) 2002 2001 2000
Mutual Funds
BlackRock Funds
Beginning assets under management $24,195 $26,359 $27,339
Net subscriptions (redemptions) (4,533) 616 1,834
Market depreciation (1,547) (2,780) 2,814)
Ending assets under management 18,115 24,195 26,359
BlackRock Global Series
Beginning assets under management 149 75 —
Net subscriptions 48 90 72
Market appreciation (depreciation) 14 (16) 3
Ending assets under management 211 149 75
BPIF*
Beginning assets under management 53,167 36,338 25,554
Net subscriptions 6,409 16,829 6,688
Exchanges — — 4,096
Ending assets under management 59,576 53,167 36,338
Closed End
Beginning assets under management 8,512 6,764 7,340
Net subscriptions (redemptions) 2,052 1,668 (984)
Market appreciation 207 80 408
Ending assets under management 10,771 8,512 6,764
Short Term Investment Funds (STIF)*
Beginning assets under management 575 490 5,064
Net subscriptions (redemptions) 80 85 478)
Exchanges — — (4,096)
Ending assets under management 655 575 490
Total Mutual Funds
Beginning assets under management 86,598 70,026 65,297
Net subscriptions 4,056 19,288 7,132
Market depreciation (1,326) (2,716) (2,403)
Ending assets under management $89,328 $86,598 $70,026

* During the fourth quarter of 2000, $4.1 billion of STIF assets under management were exchanged into the BPIF product.

OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002
AS COMPARED WITH THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Revenue

Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002
increased $43.8 million, or 8%, to $577.0 million, compared
with $533.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Investment advisory and administration fees increased
$23.7 million, or 5%, to $519.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, compared with $495.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001. The growth in investment
advisory and administration fees was primarily due to a 14%

increase in assets under management to $272.8 billion at
December 31, 2002. Other income of $57.8 million increased
$20.2 million, or 54%, for the year ended December 31, 2002,
compared with $37.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2001. The increase was the result of increased sales of BlackRock
Solutions products and services but included approximately
$6.0 million for a consulting assignment which was terminated
late in 2002 subsequent to the client being acquired.

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) | 2002 2001 Amount %
Investment advisory and administration fees: -

Mutual funds $212,214 $217,361 ($5,147) (2.4%)

Separate accounts | 306,951 278,126 28,825 10.4
Total investment advisory and

administration fees 519,165 495,487 23,678 4.8
Other income | 57,812 37,657 20,155 53.5
"Total revenue $576,977 $533,144 $43,833 8.2%




Mutual fund advisory and administration fees decreased
$5.1 million, or 2%, to $212.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, compared with $217.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease in mutual fund
revenue was due to a decline in BlackRock Fund fees of $38.8
million, partally offset by increases of BPIF and closed-end
fund fees of $22.4 million and $11.1 million, respectively.
The decrease in BlackRock Fund revenue was due to a $6.1 bil-
lion, or 25%, decline in assets of which 79% related to with-
drawals by PNC related accounts. The increase in BPIF
revenue was the result of a $9.2 billion, or 20%, increase in
average assets due to expanded marketing efforts, flight to
quality considerations and declining interest rates. Closed-end
fund revenue increased $11.1 million due to an increase in
assets of $2.6 billion due to BlackRock’s new fund offerings.

Separate account advisory fees increased $28.8 million, or
10%, to $307.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2002, compared with $278.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. Excluding performance fees, advis-
ory fees on separate accounts increased $44.3 million, or
20%, to $266.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2002, compared with $222.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The growth in separate account revenue

excluding performance fees was attributable to solid relative
investment returns resulting in a $37.1 billion, or 31%,
increase in fixed income separate account assets, partially
offset by a $5.7 billion decrease in low fee generating liquid-
ity and liquidity-securities lending account assets. Perfor-
mance fees of $40.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2002 decreased $15.4 million, or 28%, compared with $56.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Fund invest-
ment losses during the second and third quarters of 2002
have resulted in a high water mark for the Company’s fixed
income hedge fund which resulted in a decrease in earned
incentive fees of $16.3 million, or 35%, to $30.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002 compared with $46.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2002. BlackRock will
not earn additional performance fees on the fund untl such
time as positive investment performance exceeds the high
water mark which substantially reduces the likelihood of earn-
ing performance fees during 2003. The decrease in fixed
income hedge fund performance fees during the year ended
December 31, 2002 was partially offset by a $1.2 million
increase in incentive fees earned from real estate alternative
investment products.

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 Amount %
Mutual funds revenue
BlackRock Funds $83,647 $122,476 $(38,829) (31.7%)
Closed-end Funds 41,591 30,474 11,117 36.5
BPIF 86,115 63,688 22,427 35.2
STIF 861 723 138 19.1
Total mutual funds revenue 212,214 217,361 (5,147) 2.9
Separate accounts revenue
Separate accounts base fees 266,252 222,002 44,250 19.9
Separate accounts performance fees 40,699 56,124 (15,425) (27.5)
Total separate accounts revenue 306,951 278,126 28,825 10.4
Total investment advisory and

administration fees 519,165 495,487 23,678 4.8
Other income 57,812 37,657 20,155 53.5
Total revenue $576,977 $533,144 $43,833 8.2%

Expense

Total expense decreased $1.1 million to $361.8 million for the
year ended December 31,2002, compared with $363.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2001. The change primar-
ily reflects decreases in fund administration and servicing

costs-affiliates and amortization of intangible assets partally
offset by increases in employee compensation and benefits and
general and administration expense.

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 Amount %
Employee compensation and benefits $230,634 $215,118 $15,516 7.2%
Fund administration and

servicing costs-affiliates 40,304 60,829 (20,525) (33.7)
General and administration 90,076 76,567 13,509 17.6
Amortization of intangible assets 824 10,454 (9,630) 92.1)

Total expense $361,838 $362,968 ($1,130) (0.3%)




Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations continued

For the year ended December 31, 2002, fund administration
and servicing costs-affiliates declined $20.5 million, or 34%,
due to the reduction of PNC client investments in the
BlackRock Funds to $12.1 billion at December 31, 2002, com-
pared with $16.9 billien at December 31,2001, and the effect
of a revised investment management services agreement
with PNC which became effective on July 1, 2002. Amortiza-
tion of intangible assets decreased due to the adoption of
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” effec-
tive on January 1, 2002, which changed the accounting for
goodwill from an amortization method to an impairment-only
approach. Employee compensation and benefits increased
$15.5 million primarily due to a $15.1 million increase in
incentive compensation based on the growth of operating

income and $10.1 million related to salary and benefits, par-
tially offset by decreases of $8.3 million related to direct
incentives on alternative product performance fees and
$1.4 million atwibutable to invesunent losses with respect
to senior employee elections under BlackRock’s Voluntary
and Involuntary Deferred Compensation Plans. Salary
and benefit cost increases reflected a 14% increase in full
time employees to support business growth. General and
administration expenses increased $13.5 million, or 18%, to
$90.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, com-
pared with $76.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2001, largely due to new business activity, increased headcount
and corporate space and technology investments.

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 Amount %
General and administration expense:
Marketing and promotional $23,854 $20,341 $3,513 17.3%
Occupancy 19,263 12,560 6,703 53.4
Technology 17,822 14,398 3,424 23.8
Other general and administration 29,137 29,268 (131) 0.4)

"Total general and administration expense $90,076 $76,567 $13,509 17.6%

Marketing and promotional expenses of $23.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2002 increased $3.5 million, or
17%, primarily due to increased costs associated with new
products and services, particularly asset based servicing fees
on new closed-end funds as well as to support strong organic
growth in established products. Occupancy expense of $19.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased $6.7
million due to higher expenses associated with corporate
facility expansion, particularly in 40 East 52nd Street, New
York, Wilmington, Delaware, San Francisco, California,
Boston, Massachusetts, Hong Kong and Tokyo. Technology
expenses increased approximately $3.4 million, or 24%, to
$17.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 as a
result of higher depreciadon charges associated with the com-
pletion of new data processing facilities in New York and
Delaware, and capitalized investments to support the growth
of BlackRock Solutions processing services.

Operating Income and Net Income

Operating income was $215.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, representing a $45.0 million, or 26%,
increase compared with the year ended December 31, 2001.
During the year ended December 31, 2002, operating margin

increased to 40.1% as compared to 36.0% during the year
ended December 31, 2001. The increase in operating margin
was due to scale benefits associated with higher fixed income,
liquidity and BlackRock Solutions revenue and a reduction in
amortization of intangible assets expense due to the
Company’s adoption of SFAS No. 142. Non-operating
income decreased $2.0 million, or 19%, to $8.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2002, compared with the year
ended December 31, 2001. The decrease in non-operating
income was primarily due to a decrease in interest income of
$2.2 million attributable to falling interest rates, the recog-
nition of $1.8 million in incremental impairment losses on the
Company’s available-for-sale securities and $1.4 million in
investment losses associated with senior employee elections
under BlackRock’s Voluntary and Involuntary Deferred
Compensation Plans, partially offset by $3.2 million in secu-
rities gains. Income tax expense was $90.7 million and $73.6
million, representing effective tax rates of 40.5% and 40.6%
for the years ended December 31, 2002 and December 31,
2001, respectively. Net income totaled $133.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2002, compared with $107.4 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2001, representing an
increase of $25.8 million, or 24%.




OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001
AS COMPARED WITH THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

Revenue

Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001
increased $56.3 million, or 12%, to $533.1 million, com-
pared with $476.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2000. Investment advisory and administradon fees increased
$42.7 million, or 9%, to $495.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001, compared with $452.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2000. The growth in investment

advisory and administration fees was primarily due toa 17%
increase in assets under management to $238.6 billion at
December 31, 2001 and increased performance fees. Other
income of $37.7 million increased $13.6 million, or 56%,
for the year ended December 31, 2001, compared with
$24.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 resulting
from increased sales of BlackRock Solutions products.

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2001 2000 Amount %
Investment advisory and administration fees:

Mutual funds $217,361 $229,259 {$11,898) (5.2%)

Separate accounts % 278,126 223,521 54,605 24.4
Total investment advisory and administration fees 495,487 452,780 42,707 9.4
Other income 37,657 24,092 13,565 56.3
Total revenue $533,144 $476,872 $56,272 11.8%

Mutual fund advisory and administration fees decreased
$11.9 million, or 5%, to $217.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001, compared with $229.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2000. The decrease in mutual fund
revenue was due to declines in BlackRock Funds fees and
closed-end fund fees of $29.4 million and $3.4 million, respec-
tively, partially offset by a $21.0 million increase in BPIF and
short-term investment fund revenue. The decrease in
BlackRock Funds revenue was due to a $2.2 billion, or 8%,
decline in assets with market depreciation in equity assets
of $2.8 billion substantally exceeding net subscriptions of
$0.6 billion. Closed-end fund revenue declined due to
$2.4 billion in term trust maturities, which was partially off-
set by the Company’s offering of new closed-end funds during
the year. The increase in BPIF revenue was the result of a
$16.8 billion, or 46%, increase in assets under management
due to expanded marketing efforts, flight to quality consid-
erations and declining interest rates.

Separate account advisory fees increased $54.6 million, or
24%, to $278.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2001, compared with $223.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. Excluding performance fees, advisory
fees on separate accounts increased $51.4 million, or 30%, to
$222.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, com-
pared with $170.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2000 as the Company continued to deliver solid investment
returns resulting in a $18.2 billion, or 14%, increase in assets
under management. Performance fees of $56.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001 increased $3.2 million, or
6%, compared with $52.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. Total performance fees for the year
ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000, largely
represents investment results earned on the Company’s fixed
income hedge fund.

Year ended December 31, Variance
(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2001 2000 Amount %
Mutual funds revenue
BlackRock Funds $122,476 $151,918 ($29,442) (19.4%)
Closed-end Funds 30,474 33,916 (3,442) (10.1)
BPIF 63,688 39,027 24,661 63.2
STIF 723 4,398 (3,675) (83.6)
Total mutual funds revenue 217,361 229,259 (11,898) (5.2)
Separate accounts revenue
Separate accounts base fees 222,002 170,592 31,410 30.1
Separate accounts performance fees 56,124 52,929 3,195 6.0
Total separate accounts revenue 278,126 223,521 54,605 244
Total investment advisory and administration fees 495,487 452,780 42,707 9.4
Other income 37,657 24,092 13,565 56.3
Total revenue $333,144 $476,872 $56,272 11.8%
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Expense

Total expense increased $29.1 million, or 9%, to $363.0 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2001, compared with
$333.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The
change primarily reflects increases in employee compensation

and benefits and general and administration expenses, partially
offset by a decrease in fund administration and servicing
costs-affiliates.

Year ended December 31, Variance
(Dollar amounts in thousands) l 2001 2000 Amount %
Employee compensation and benefits $215,118 $189,684 $25,434 13.4%
Fund administration and servicing costs-affiliates 60,829 75,686 (14,857) (19.6)
General and administration 76,567 58,311 18,256 313
Amortizadon of intangible assets 10,454 10,153 301 3.0
Total expense $362,968 $333,834 $29,134 8.7%

Employee compensation and benefits increased $25.4 million
primarily due to a $12.2 million increase in incentive
compensation based on the growth of operating income and
$13.2 million related o salary and benefits. Salary and bene-
fit cost increases reflected an 11% increase in full-time
employees. For the year ended December 31, 2001, fund
administration and ‘servicing costs-affiliates declined $14.9
million, or 20%, as PNC client investments in the BlackRock

Funds declined to $16.9 billion at December 31, 2001, com-
pared with $19.7 billion at December 31, 2000. General and
administration expenses increased $18.3 million, or 31%, to
$76.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, compared
with $58.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000,
largely due to new business activity, increased headcount and
corporate space and technology investments.

Year ended December 31, Variance

Dollar amounts in thousands) 2001 2000 Amount %
General and administration expense:
Marketing and promotional $20,341 $17,897 $2,444 13.7%
Occupancy 12,560 9,707 2,853 294
Technology 14,398 9,363 5,035 53.8
Other general and administration 29,268 21,344 7,924 37.1

Total general and administration expense $76,567 $58,311 $18,256 31.3%

Marketing and promotional expenses of $20.3 million for the
yearended December 31,2001 increased $2.4 million, or 14%,
primarily due to higher expenditures related to new products
as well as increased travel and entertainment costs associated
with the Company’sinstitutional marketing efforts. Occupancy
expense of $12.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2001 increased $2.9 million due to higher expenses associated
with corporate facilitv expansion, particularly in Wilmington,
Delaware, Edinburgh, Scotland, 40 East 52nd Street, New
York and Hong Kong. Technology expenses increased
approximately $5.0 million, or 54%, to $14.4 million for the
year ended December 31,2001 as a result of higher deprecia-
tion charges associated with the completion of a second com-
puter facility in Delaware and capitalized investments to
support the growth of BlackRock Solutions. Other expense
increased $7.9 million, or 37%, for the year ended Decem-
ber 31,2001 primarily due to higher professional service costs
and sub-advisory fees associated with new products and
increased depreciation on furniture and equipment purchases
due to office space expansion and increased headcount.

Operating Income and Net Income

Operating income was $170.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001, representing a $27.1 million, or 19%,
increase, compared with the year ended December 31, 2000.
Non-operating income increased $3.9 million, or 57%, to
$10.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, com-
pared with the year ended December 31, 2000. The rise was
due to higher levels of interest and dividend income from
investments of the Company’s available cash. Income tax
expense was $73.6 million and $62.6 million, representing
effective tax rates of 40.6% and 41.7% for the year ended
December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively.
The lower effective income tax rate was primarily a result
of the consolidadon of mutual fund activities in Delaware.
Net income totaled $107.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001, compared with $87.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2000, representing an increase
of $20.1 million, or 23%.




LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

BlackRock meets its working capital requirements through
cash generated by its operating activites. Cash provided by
the Company’s operating activides totaled $172.0 million,
$167.4 million and $108.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Operating
activities for the year ended December 31, 2002 included
net purchases of investments, trading, of approximately
$17.4 million, which represented initial investments associated
with senior employee elections under BlackRock’s Voluntary
and Involuntary Deferred Compensation Plans. Deferred
taxes incurred during the year ended December 31, 2002 pri-
marily consists of the establishment of a deferred tax liability
approximating $8.5 million related to the Company’s adop-
ton of SFAS No. 142 which changed the accounting for
goodwill from an amortization method to an impairment-only
approach. BlackRock expects that cash flows provided by
operating activities will continue to serve as the principal
source of working capital.

Net cash flow used in investing activities was $96.8 million,
$167.1 million and $45.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Capital
expenditures in 2002 for property and equipment were
$42.8 million and reflected leasehold improvements for the
Company’s new headquarters at 40 East 52nd Street, New
York, New York and the purchase of equipment to support
corporate expansion and the growth of BlackRock Solutions.
Net purchases of investments were $52.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002, which included a $27.4 million
incremental investment in the Company’s fixed income
mutual funds, a $13.8 million investment in municipal bonds
and seed investments made in certain new alternative invest-
ment products.

Net cash flow used in financing activities was $8.2 million,
$6.2 million and $27.1 million for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Financing activi-
ties primarily represented treasury stock activity for the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. On February 29, 2000,
the Company repaid $28.2 million on an unsecured note with
B.P. Partners, L.P, an entity comprised of former partners of
BFM, who received deferred notes in connection with PNC’s
acquisiton of BFM. During 2002, in connection with the
Company’s Long-Term Deferred Compensation Plan,
BlackRock repurchased approximately 150,000 shares of class
A common stock at a fair market value of $42.33 per share
from certain employees to facilitate required employee
income tax payments. On May 2, 2001, BlackRock’s Board of
Directors authorized BlackRock to repurchase up to 500,000,
and on February 25, 2003, BlackRock’s Board of Directors
authorized BlackRock to repurchase an additional 500,000, of
its outstanding shares of class A common stock from dme to
time as market and business conditions warrant in open mar-
ket or privately negotiated transactions, Through Febru-
ary 28, 2003, BlackRock has purchased 184,500 shares of its
outstanding class A common stock for $7.4 million under
this repurchase program. In connection with the BlackRock
Inc. 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, BlackRock reissued
approximately 44,000 shares of class A treasury stock to the
participants on January 31, 2002 and issued approximately
36,000 of new shares of class A common stock on July 31,
2002. During 2002, the Company also purchased class B
common stock from former BlackRock employees in the
amount of $2.3 million.

Total capitalat December 31,2002 and 2001 was $634.7 million
and $486.1 million, respectively, and was comprised entirely of
stockholders’ equity.

INCOME TAX FILING STATUS

The Company anticipates a decline in its effective tax rate to
39.5% for fiscal 2003 from 40.5% for the year ended
December 31, 2002, which would have increased net income
tor 2002 by approximately $2.2 million. This decline in the
Company’s effective tax rate is primarily the result of a recent
decision that BlackRock should file combined and unitary
state income tax returns with PNC Bank and/or one or more
PNC Bank subsidiaries.

Additionally, the Company’s New York state franchise tax
returns and other state income tax returns are under exami-
nation for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998.
The primary issue raised by the state taxing authorities is
whether certain BlackRock subsidiaries should have filed tax
returns in the various jurisdictions. Management believes that
adequate amounts have been reserved for any adjustments that
may ultimately result from these examinations.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

The Company leases its primary office space under agree-
ments which expire through 2017. In connectdon with certain
lease agreements, the Company is responsible for escalation

payments.

In connection with the management contract acquired asso-
ciated with the agreement and plan of merger of CORE Cap,
Inc. with Anthracite Capital, Inc., 2 BlackRock managed
REIT, the Company recorded an $8.0 million liability using
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an imputed interest rate of 10%. For the year ended
December 31, 2002, the related expense was $0.7 million.
At December 31, 2002, the future commitment under the
agreement is $9.5 million.

The Company has entered into a commitment to invest $7.7
million in Carbon Capital, Inc., an alternative investment
tund sponsored by BlackRock of which $5.4 million remained
unfunded at December 31, 2002.

In the ordinary course of business, BlackRock enters into
contracts with third parties pursuant to which the third
parties provide services on behalf of BlackRock. In many of
the contracts, BlackRock agrees to indemnify the third party
service provider under certain circumstances. The terms of

-Summary of Commitments:

the indemnity vary from contract to contract and the amount
of indemnification liability, if any, cannot be determined.

On November 4, 2002, the Company acquired certain assets
and liabilities of Cyllenius Capital Management LLC
(“Cyllenius™), an equity hedge fund manager, for $1.9 mil-
lion in cash at closing. The ultimate purchase price for
Cyllenius may include future contingent payments which
are performance-based and are not subject to a maximum or
the continued employment of former Cyllenius employees
with the Company. The contingent payments, if appli-
cable, will be made on or about August 31, 2003 and Jan-
uary 30, 2004. Due to the nature of these payments, the
Company is unable to estimate its potential commitment
at this time.

(Dollar amounts in thousands) Total 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007  Thereafter
Lease Commitnents $172,690 $11,519 $11,393 $10,854 $10,897 $10,897 $117,130
Acquired Management Contract 9,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,000 1,000 3,000
Investment Commitments 5,395 5,395 — — — — —

Total Commitments $187,585 $18,414 $12,893 $12,354 $11,897 $11,897 $120,130

BLACKROCK, INC. LONG-TERM RETENTION AND INCENTIVE PLAN

On October 15, 2002, the Company finalized the BlackRock,
Inc. Long-Term Retention and Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).
The Plan permits BlackRock to grant up to $240 million in
deferred compensation awards (the “Compensation Awards”),
with payment subject to the achievement of certain perfor-
mance hurdles no later than March 2007. In conjunction with
the Plan, BlackRock may issue up to 3.5 million opdons under
the BlackRock, Inc. 1999 Stock Award and Incentive Plan (the
“Award Plan”) with an exercise price equal to market value
subject to vesting at December 31, 2006. As of December 31,
2002, the Company has awarded approximately 3.4 million
stock options and approximately $130.5 million in Compen-
satdon Awards to more than 100 senior professionals. The
remainder of the Plan will be reserved for grants over
the next two years to professionals who exhibit leadership
qualities and demonstrate the potential to make significant
contributions to the Company over time, including addi-
tional awards to professionals already participating in the
Plan. If the performance hurdles are achieved, the Com-
pensation Awards will be funded with up to 4 million shares
of BlackRock common stock to be surrendered by PNC and
distributed to Plan participants, less income tax withholding.
In addition, distributed shares to Plan participants will include
an option to put such distributed shares back to BlackRock at
fair market value. BlackRock will fund the remainder of the
Compensation Awards with up to $40 million in cash.

The Compensation Awards will fully vest at the end of any
three-month period beginning in 2005 or 2006 during which
the daily average closing price of BlackRock common stock
is at least $65 per share. If chat performance hurdle is not
achieved, the Company’s Compensation Committee of its
Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, vest a portion
of the Compensation Awards if the Company realizes com-
pound annual growth in diluted earnings per share of at least
10% from January 1, 2002 to December 31, 2006 and the
Company’s publicly-traded stock performs in the top half of
the Company’s peer group during that time.

There will be no expense recognition associated with the
Compensation Awards unless vesting occurs or a partial vest-
ing determination by the Compensatdon Committee is con-
sidered probable and estimable. Once this determination is
made, BlackRock will record compensation expense for the
pro rata portion of the Compensation Awards earned to date.
Compensation expense for the remaining Compensation
Awards will be recognized ratably from the determination date
through the vesting date and could extend through March 31,
2007. In addition, at the time that the BlackRock common
stock portion of the Compensation Awards are distributed,
BlackRock will record an increase in stockholders’ equity equal
to the fair market value of the BlackRock common stock
distributed to employees from shares surrendered by PNC.

The terms of the Plan are subject to approval by BlackRock
stockholders at the Company’s annual meeting in May 2003.




BLACKROCK INC. AMENDED INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING AGREEMENT

On October 15, 2002, BlackRock entered into an amendment
to the Initial Public Offering Agreement with PNC.

The amendment provides that, subject to certain notice
requirements and evaluation and cure periods, PNC must
deposit its shares of voting stock and common stock of
BlackRock into a voting trust and refrain from soliciting prox-
ies from holders of outstanding BlackRock capital securities
and, subject to certain exceptions, refrain from acquiring addi-
tional shares of BlackRock if, within twelve months following
a change of control of PNC or a change of control of
BlackRock, a majority of BlackRock’s independent directors
determine that such change of control has a material adverse
effect on BlackRock and that adverse effect is not cured within
a further three month period. Following the deposit of PNC’s
shares into a voting trust as described above, PNC must, sub-
ject to the terms and conditdons of the IPO Agreement, take
one of the three following courses of action: (i) within two
years, dispose of its ownership interest in BlackRock voting
stock, such that neither PNC nor its affiliates is the beneficial
owner of more than 4.9% of any class of voting stock of
BlackRock (and any shares of class B common stock deposited
by PNC into the voting trust will be converted to class A com-
mon stock upon the election of this option (i)); (i) proceed as
expeditiously as is commercially reasonable to offer to pur-
chase all the outstanding BlackRock capital securities not
held by PNC or its affiliates at the applicable Change of
Control Price (which is defined in the Amendment); or (iii)
proceed as expeditiously as is commercially reasonable to sell
its ownership interest in BlackRock capital securities, such that
neither PNC nor its affiliates is the beneficial owner of more
than 4.9% of any class of voting stock of BlackRock, to a
third party in a transaction in which such third party offers to
purchase all the outstanding shares of BlackRock not held by
PNC or its affiliates at a price per share not less than the price
per share offered to PNC. If PNC takes action under (ii) or
(iii) above, all awards under the Plan will vest and be imme-
diately payable and all stock options granted under the Award
Plan will vest and be exercisable.

A “change of control of PNC” will be deemed to occur when
the Board of Directors of PNC determines that a change of
control has occurred. However, at a minimum, a change of
control will be deemed to occur if: (i) any person, excluding
employee benefit plans, is the beneficial owner of securitdes of
PNC representing (A) between 20% to 40%, unless otherwise

approved by the Board of Directors of PNC, or (B) more
than 40% of the combined voting power of PNC’ then out-
standing securities; (if) PNC consummates a merger, consol-
idation, share exchange, division or other reorganization or
transaction with any other corporation, other than a merger,
consolidation, share exchange, division or other reorganiza-
tion or transaction that results in the voting securities of
PNC outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to
represent at least 60% of the combined voting power jmme-
diately after such transaction of (x) PNC’ outstanding secu-
rides, (y) the surviving entity’s outstanding securities, or (z) in
the case of a division, the outstanding securities of each entity
resulting from the division; (iii) the shareholders of PNC
approve a plan of complete liquidation or winding-up of
PNC or an agreement for the sale or disposition of all or sub-
stantially all of PNCX assets; (iv) as a result of a proxy con-
test, members of the Board of Directors of PNC prior to the
contest cease to constitute at least a majority of the Board of
Directors of PNC; or (v) for any reason, members of the
Board of Directors of PNC at the outset of any period of 24
consecutive months cease at any point during that 24-month
period to constitute at least a majority of the Board of
Directors of PNC.

A “change of control of BlackRock” will be deemed to occur
if: (i) due to a transfer of BlackRock voting stock, a person
other than PNC or its affiliates holds a majority of the vot-
ing power of BlackRock’s voting stock; or (ii) whether by
actual or threatened proxy contest or any merger, reorgani-
zation, consolidation or similar transaction, persons who are
directors of BlackRock immediately prior to such proxy con-
test or the execution of the agreement pursuant to which
such transaction is consummated (other than a director whose
initial assumption of office was in connection with a prior
actual or threatened proxy contest) cease to constitute a
majority of the Board of Directors of BlackRock or any suc-
cessor entity immediately following such proxy contest or
the consummation of such transaction. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, a transaction or series of transactions that is
approved by a majority of BlackRock’s independent direc-
tors and pursuant to which all public stockholders and
employees of BlackRock are given an opportunity to partici-
pate on substantially the same terms as PNC will not be
deemed to constitute a change of control of BlackRock.

BLACKROCK, INC. AMENDED AND RESTATED STOCKHOLDERS AGREEMENT

On October 15, 2002, BlackRock entered into an amend-
ment to the Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement
with PNC.

The amendment provides that nothing contained in the
Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement will be
deemed to prohibit PNC or its affiliates from effecting a dis-
tribution (including, but not limited to, a spin-off or a split-
off) of its BlackRock common stock to the public shareholders

of PNC. The amendment also provides that the Amended and
Restated Stockholders Agreement will remain in effect in the
event PNC ceases to own shares of class B common stock as
a result of such shares converting to shares of class A common
stock in accordance with the terms of the Initial Public
Offering Agreement, as amended. A “change of control of
PNC” and a “change of control of BlackRock” will have the
same meanings assigned to such terms in the Initial Public
Offering Agreement, as amended.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Significant intercompany accounts and transactions between
the consolidated entities have been eliminated. The prepara-
tion of the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilides at the date
of the consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Management considers the following accounting policies crit-
ical to an informed review of BlackRock’s consolidated finan-
cial statements. For a summary of additional accounting
policies see Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements beginning on page 46.

Investments

The Company’s investments are classified as trading and
available for sale. Investments, trading, represent investments
made by the Company and held in a Rabbi trust with respect
to senjor employee elections under the BlackRock Voluntary
and Involuntary Deferred Compensation Plans and are
recorded at fair market value with unrealized gains and losses
included in the accompanying consolidated statements of
income as investment income (expense). Investments, avail-
able for sale, consist primarily of invesunents in BlackRock
funds, municipal bonds and certain institutional and private
placement portfolios (“alternative investment products”) and
are stated at market values. Securities, which are not readily
marketable (alternative investment products), are stated at
their estimated fair market value as determined by the
Company’s management.

The resulting unrealized gains and losses on investments,
available for sale, are included in the accumulated other com-
prehensive income or loss component of stockholders’ equity,
net of tax. Realized gains and losses on trading and available
for sale investments are calculated on a specific identification
basis and, along with interest and dividend income, are
included in investment income (expense) in the accompany-
ing consolidated statements of income. The Company’s man-
agement periodically assesses impairment on investments to
determine if it is other than temporary. Several of the
Company’s available for sale investments represent equity
interests in collateralized debt obligations in which the
Company acts in the capacity of collateral manager. The
Company reviews cash flow estimates throughout the life of
each collateralized debt obligation to determine if an impair-
ment charge is required to be taken through current earnings.
If the updated estimate of future cash flows (taking into
account both dming and amounts) is less than the last revised
estimate and the reduction in estimated future cash flows is
deemed other than temporary, an impairment is recognized
based on the excess of the carrying amount of the investment
over its fair value. In evaluatng impairments on all other
available for sale securites, the Company considers the length
of dme and the extent to which the security’s market value has

been less than its cost, the financial condition and near-term
prospects of the security’s issuer and the Company’s intended
holding period for the security. Any impairment on invest-
ments which is deemed other than temporary is recorded in
non-operating income (expense) on the consolidated state-
ments of income.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost Jess accumulated
depreciation. Depreciation generally is provided on the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the var-
ious classes of property and equipment. Accelerated methods
are used for income tax purposes. Leasehold improvements
are amortized using the straight-line method over their esti-
mated useful lives or lease terms, whichever is shorter.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the Liability
method prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.”
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future
tax consequences attributable to the differences between the
financial statement carrying amount of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company follows SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
based Compensation,” and adopted the intrinsic value method
for all arrangements under which employees receive shares of
stock or other equity instruments of the employer or the
employer incurs liabilities to employees in amounts based on
the price of its stock for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2002. Fair value disclosures are included
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to SFAS No. 123, the Company elected to account
for the Award Plan and shares issued under the BlackRock,
Inc. 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) under
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. (“APB”) 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and adopted the
disclosure only provisions of SFAS No. 123 for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2002.

The Company will expense stock-based compensation using
the fair value-based method beginning with grants made in
2003. The fair value of each option grant will be estimated
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Assuming
recurring stock option grants of similar size and value to
those made during 1999 and 2000, this change in accounting
policy will not have a material impact on diluted earnings per
share in 2003. The annual impact is expected to increase over
the next five years under the transitional guidance currently
provided by SFAS No. 123, as amended. When fully imple-
mented, the impact, assuming recurring stock opton grants
of similar size and value to those made during 1999 and 2000,
is expected to result in an annual reduction of approximately
3% to diluted earnings per share.




RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

a) Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit and Disposal Activities,” which
nullified Emerging Issue Task Force Issue (“Issue™) No. 94-3,
“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination
Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain
Costs Incurred in a Restructuring),” by requiring the recog-
nition of a liability for a costassociated with an exit or disposal
activity only when the liability is incurred. Under the Issue, a
liability for an exit cost could be recorded at the date of an
entity’s commitment to an exit plan. The adoption of this state-
ment, which is effective January 1, 2003, is not expected to have
a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

b) Accounting and Disclosure Requivements for Guarantees

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation (“FIN”)
No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness
of Others.” FIN No. 45 significantly changes current practice
in the accounting for, and disclosure of, guarantees. Under FIN
No. 45, certain guarantees are required to be recorded at fair
value, in contrast to current practice which is generally to
record a liability only when a loss is probable and reasonable
estimable, as those terms are defined in SFAS No. 3,
“Accounting for Contingencies.” FIN No. 45 also requires a
guarantor to make significant new disclosures, even when the
likelihood of making any payments under the guarantee is
remote. The disclosure requirements of FIN No. 45 became
effective for any interim or annual periods ending after
December 15, 2002 while the interpretation’s initial recogni-
ton and initial recognition provisions are applicable on a
prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after
December 31, 2002. The adopdon of this interpretation is
not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
financial statements.

o) Stock-based Compensation

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation~Transition and
Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123.”
SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123 to provide alternative
methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee com-
pensation. In additon, the statement amends the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclo-
sures in both annual and interim financial requirements about
the method of accounting for stock-based compensation and
the effect of the method used on reported results. As dis-
cussed previously, in adopting this statement, the Company
has elected to apply the recognition provisions of SFAS No.
123 to all employee awards granted, modified or settled after
January 1, 2003. When fully implemented, the impact to the
Company’s financial statements, assuming recurring stock
option grants of similar size and value to those made during
1999 and 2000, is expected to result in an annual reduction of
approximately 3% to diluted earnings per share.

d) Consolidation

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities.” FIN No. 46 addresses the appli-
cation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated
Financial Statements,” to variable interest entties (“VIE”) and
generally would require that the assets, liabilities and results
of operations of a VIE be consolidated into the financial
statements of the enterprise that has a controlling financial
interest in it. The interpretation provides a framework for
determining whether an entity should be evaluated for con-
solidation based on voting interests or significant financial
support provided to the entity (“variable interests”).

An entity is classified as a VIE if total equity is not sufficient
to permiit the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support or its equity investors lack the
direct or indirect ability to make decisions about an entity’s
activities through voting rights, absorb the expected losses of
the entity if they occur or receive the expected residual returns
of the entity if they occur. Once an entity is determined to be
a VIE, its assets, liabilities and results of operations should
be consolidated with those of its primary beneficiary. The pri-
mary beneficiary of a VIE is the entity which either will
absorb a majority of the VIE expected losses or has the right
to receive a majority of the VIE% expected residual returns.
The expected losses and residual returns of a VIE include
expected variability in its net income or loss, fees to decision
makers and fees to guarantors of substandally all VIE assets
or liabilities and are calculated in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Concept No. 7, “Using Cash Flow
Information and Present Value in Accounting Measurements.”

A public enterprise with a variable interest in a VIE created
before January 31, 2003, must apply FIN No. 46 to that VIE
as of the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting
period beginning after June 15, 2003. Additdonally, if it is
reasonably possible that an enterprise will consolidate or dis-
close information about a VIE when the guidance becomes
effective, there are several disclosure requirements effective
for all financial statements issued after January 31, 2003.

Pursuant to the conceptual framework set forth in FIN No.
46, the Company’s management has concluded that the con-
solidadon of the assets, liabilities and results of operations of
several sponsored investment vehicles which have been
deemed VIEs in its consolidated financial statements as of and
for the period ended September 30, 2003 is reasonably pos-
sible. BlackRock’s maximum potential loss related to these
VIEs is limited to the amount of its respective equity owner-
ship in each of these investment vehicles and consequently has
no risk of loss with respect to the debt of these investment
vehicles. Additionally, the Company has neither guaranteed
nor is contractually liable for any of the VIEs’ obligations.
Pertinent information as of December 31, 2002 relatng to
these VIEs is as follows:

e BlackRock acts as collateral asset manager for four collat-
eralized bond obligadon funds (“CBOs”) and one collater-
alized loan obligation fund (“CLO”) organized as
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corporatons or limited liability companies. The funds
invest in high yield securides and offer opportunity for
high return and are subject to greater risk than traditional
investment products. These funds are structured to take
advantage of the yield differendal between their assets and
liabilities and have terms to maturity from eight to twelve
years. At December 31, 2002, aggregate assets and debt in
the CBOs and CLO was approximately $2.1 billion and
$2.1 billion, respectively. BlackRock’s equity ownership
was approximately $10.4 million at December 31, 2002.

As currently organized, the following entities would be
considered VIEs under FIN 46. However, management has
identified, and intends to implement, certain changes to the
equity ownership and/or control structure of these entities
that management believes would remove them from the scope
of FIN 46 and, as a result, these entities would not be required
to be consolidated in the third quarter of 2003.

© BlackRock serves as investment manager for two fixed
income hedge funds that engage in wrading of fixed income
securities through both a limited liability company
(“LLC”) and a corporate entity. These funds invest in the
global bond markets on a more leveraged basis and/or con-
centrated basis than BlackRock’s wraditional fixed income

products with diversificadon of risk exposure in each
portfolio. BlackRock serves as the managing member of
the LLC and the investment manager of the corporate
entity which had combined assets and liabilities of approx-
imately $37.9 billion and $36.4 billion, respectively, at
December 31, 2002. BlackRock’s equity ownership was
approximately $7.5 million at December 31, 2002.

© On November 4, 2002, BlackRock purchased certain
assets and liabilities of Cyllenius Parmers GP, LLC and
Cyllenius Capital Management LP and now serves as the
managing member of two LLCs and the investment man-
ager for a corporation (the “Cyllenius Funds”) which
engage in the trading of equity securites both long and
short. At December 31, 2002, the Cyllenius Funds had
total assets and labilities of approximately $168.2 million
and $44.8 million, respectively. BlackRock holds no own-
ership interest in the Cyllenius Funds.

Management will continue to assess this interpretation’s
impact on its consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the FASB is discussing implementation guidelines associated
with FIN No. 46 which could change our current assessment
of its impact. Therefore, additional entities may be subject to
consolidation upon BlackRock's final adoption of FIN No. 46.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries provide
investment advisory and administration services to the

BlackRock Funds, BPIF, the BlackRock Closed-end Funds and
other commingled funds.

Revenues for services provided to these mutual funds including amounts earned from PNC related accounts are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Investment advisory and administration fees:
BlackRock Open-end Funds:

PNC $58,145 $88,524 $111,852

Other 25,502 33,952 40,066
BlackRock Closed-end Funds — Other 41,591 30,474 33,916
BlackRock Provident Institutional Funds*

PNC 14,203 11,900 5,471

Other* 71,912 51,788 33,556
STIF — PNC 861 723 4,398

$212,214 $217,361 $229,259

* Includes the International Dollar Reserve Fund I, Ltd., & Cayoman Islands open-ended limited liability company.




The Company provides investment advisory and adminis-
tration services to certain PNC subsidiaries, Nomura Asset
Management Co., Ltd. (“Nomura”), a strategic joint venture

Revenues for such services are as follows:

partner, and affiliates of Nomura for a fee, based on assets
under management. In addition, the Company provides
risk management and private client services to PNC.

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Separate accounts — PNC $5,886 $5,573 $5,255
Separate accounts — Nomura 10,853 5,614 4,448
Private client services — PNC 5,525 5,525 5,525
Other income-risk management — PNC 5,000 5,000 5,000

$27,264 $21,712 $20,228

Total revenue earned by BlackRock for providing asset man-
agement and other services to PNC subsidiaries and PNC
related accounts for the years ended December 31, 2002,

2001 and 2000 totalled $89,620, $117,245 and $137,501,
respectively.

PNC subsidiaries and PNC related accounts had the following investments in BlackRock-sponsored mutual funds or separate

accounts:
December 31,

(Dollay asounts in millions) 2002 2001 2000
BlackRock Open-end Funds $11,498 $17,468 $19,331
BlackRock Provident Institutional Funds 9,415 9,527 8,207
STIF 655 575 490
Separate accounts 9,818 14,876 15474

$31,386 $42 446 $43,502

The Company has entered into various memoranda of under-
standing and co-administration agreements with affiliates of
PNC pursuant to which the Company pays administration
fees for BPIF and certain other commingled funds and service
fees for PNC Advisors’ (PINC’s wealth management busi-
ness) clients invested in the BlackRock Funds.

PNC provides general and administraton services to the
Company. Charges for such services were based on actual
usage or on defined formulas which, in management’s view,
resulted in reasonable allocadons. Additionally, the Company
has entered into subadvisory and consulting agreements with
Nomura and an entity whose President and Chief Executive
Officer serves on the Company’s Board of Directors.

Aggregate expenses included in the consolidated financial statements for transactions with related parties are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Fund administration and servicing costs-affiliates $40,304 $60,829 £75,686
General and administration 6,397 6,728 7,617
General and administration-consulting 1,616 1,270 142
Interest expense-affiliates — — 353

$48,317 $68,827 $83,798

Additionally, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of PNC
acts as a financial intermediary associated with the sale of back-
end loaded shares of certain BlackRock funds. This entity
finances broker sales commissions and receives all associated
sales charges.

Included in accounts receivable is approximately $5,434 and
$5,427 at December 31,2002 and 2001, respectively, which pri-
marily represents investment advisory and administration ser-
vices provided to Nomura and PNC subsidiaries and afhliates.

Receivable from affiliates was $281 and $2,569 at December 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively. These amounts primarily repre-
sent a receivable for administration fees earned in connection
with services provided to the BlackRock Closed-end Funds and
Anthracite Capital, Inc.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities-affiliates was $23,977
and $15,972 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
These amounts primarily represent income taxes payable and
fund administration and servicing costs-affiliates payable and
donotbearinterest.




Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations continued

INTEREST RATES

The value of assets under management is affected by changes
in interest rates. Since BlackRock derives the majority of its
revenues from investment advisory fees based on the value of
assets under management, BlackRock’s revenues may be

adversely affected by changing interest rates. In a period of
rapidly rising interest rates, BlackRock’s assets under man-
agement would likely be negatively affected by reduced asset
values and increased redemptions.

INFLATION

The majority of BlackRock’s revenues are based on the value
of assets under management. There is no predictable rela-
tionship between the rate of inflation and the value of assets
under management by BlackRock, except as inflation may
affect interest rates. BlackRock does not believe inflation
will significantly affect its compensation costs, as they are
substandally variable in nature. However, the rate of inflation

may affect BlackRock’s expenses such as information tech-
nology and occupancy costs. To the extent inflation results
in rising interest rates and has other effects upon the securities
markets, it may adversely affect BlackRock’s results of opera-
tions by reducing BlackRock’s assets under management,
revenues or otherwise.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report and other documents filed by BlackRock include
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act with respect to BlackRock’s
future financial or business performance, strategies or expec-
tadons. Forward-looking statements are typically identdfied by
words or phrases such as “believe,” “
“intend,” “estimate,” “position,” “target,

» @

anticipate,”
” “aSS ]]e’”

expect,

” ” &«

mission,

“achievable,” “potential,” “strategy,” “goal,” “objective,”
“plan,” “aspiration,” “outlook,” “outcome,” “continue,”
“remain,” “maintain,” “strive,” “trend” and variations of

such words and similar expressions, or future or conditional
verbs such as “will,” “would,” “should,” “could,” “may” or
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similar expressions.

BlackRock cautions that forward-looking statements are sub-
ject to numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties, which
change over time. Forward-looking statements speak only as
of the date they are made, and BlackRock assumes no duty
to update forward-looking statements. Actual results could
differ materially from those anticipated in forward-looking
statermnents and future results could differ materially from
historical performance.

In addition to factors previously disclosed in BlackRock’s
SEC reports and those identified elsewhere in this report, the
following factors, among others, could cause actual results to
differ materially from forward-looking statements or histor-
ical performance: (1) the introduction, withdrawal, success and
timing of business initiatives and strategies; (2) changes in
political, economic or industry conditions, the interest rate
environment or financial and capital markets, which could
resultin reduced demand for products or services or reduced
value of assets under management or of investments; (3) the
relative investment performance of BlackRock’s advised or
sponsored investment products and separately managed
accounts; (4) the impact of increased competition; (5) the
impact of capital improvement projects; (6) the impact of
future acquisitions; (7) the unfavorable resolution of legal
proceedings; (8) the extent and timing of any share repur-
chases; (9) the impact, extent and timing of technological
changes and the adequacy of intellectual property protec-
ton; (10) the impact of legislative and regulatory actions and
reforms; (11) terrorist acdvities, which may adversely affect
the general economy, financial and capital markets, specific
industries and BlackRock; and (12) the ability to attract and
retain highly talented professionals.




SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected quarterly financial data for 2002 and 2001. The data presented should be read in con-
junction with the consolidated financial statements of BlackRock and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Results

of Operations” included herein.

Quarter

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data) 1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total
2002
Revenue $146,113 $156,695 $137,132 $137,037 $576,977
Operating income 49,935 54,705 55,496 55,003 215,139
Net income 31,399 34,837 33,165 33,848 133,249
EBITDA* $57,956 $63,686 $61,160 $62,067 $244,869
Earnings per share:

Basic $0.49 $0.54 $0.51 $0.52 $2.06

Diluted $0.48 $0.53 $6.51 $0.52 $2.04
Weighted-average shares outstanding:

Basic 64,648,511 64,726,856 64,798,908 64,848,221 64,756,290

Diluted 65,219,988 65,333,228 65,338,340 65,336,460 65,307,548
Common stock price per share:

High $46.26 $47.35 $46.42 $41.28 $47.35

Low $40.90 $40.45 $40.00 $34.30 $34.30

Close $44.60 $44.30 $41.42 $39.40 $39.40
2001
Revenue $133,709 $135,262 $134,782 $129,391 $533,144
Operating income 41,920 42,708 42,532 43,016 170,176
Net income 25,496 26,230 27,376 28,332 107,434
EBITDA* $49,531 $51,722 $52,190 $54,330 $207,773
Earnings per share:

Basic $0.40 $0.41 $0.43 $0.44 $1.67

Diluted $0.39 $0.40 $0.42 $0.44 $1.65
Weighted-average shares outstanding:

Basic 64,159,248 64,248,630 64,284,768 64,390,814 64,271,538

Diluted 64,897,486 64,877,389 64,947,840 65,050,738 64,926,199
Common stock price per share:

High $44.00 $37.77 $44.50 $44.40 $44.50

Low $31.25 $30.76 $34.01 $37.46 $30.76

Close $36.00 $34.29 $44.22 $41.70 $41.70

*EBITDA represents earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.




REPORTS ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management’s Responsibility
for Financial Reporting

BlackRock, Inc. is responsible for the preparation, quality
and fair presentation of its published financial statements.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States and, as such, include
judgments and estimates of management. BlackRock, Inc.,
also prepared the other information included in the Annual
Report and is responsible for its accuracy and consistency
with the consolidated financial statements.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting. The inter-
nal control system is augmented by written policies and pro-
cedures and by audits performed by an internal audit staff
which reports to the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors. Internal auditors test the operation of the internal
control system and report findings to management and the
Audit Committee, and corrective actions are taken to address
identified control deficiencies and other opportunities for
improving the system. The Audit Commirttee, composed
solely of outside directors, provides oversight to the financial
reporting process.

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any sys-
tem of internal control, including the possibility of human
error and circumvention or overriding of controls.
Accordingly, even effective internal control can provide only
reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement
preparation. Further, because of changes in condidons, the
effectiveness of internal control may vary over time.

Management assessed BlackRock, Inc.’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2002. Based on this
assessment management believes that BlackRock, Inc. main-
tained an effective internal control system over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2002.

i

Laurence D. Fink
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

/faoz (et ™

Panl L. Audet
Chief Financial Officer




Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
BlackRock, Inc.

‘We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of
financial condition of BlackRock, Inc. (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2002, and the related consolidated statements
of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows
for the year then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditng standards
generally accepted in the United States of Amerjca. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant esti-
mates made by management, as well as evaluating the over-
all financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial posi-
tion of BlackRock, Inc. at December 31, 2002, and the con-
solidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the year
then ended, in conformity with accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, in 2002, the Company changed its method of account-
ing for goodwill and other intangible assets to conform with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142.

&/"%4 Truche ¢4

New York, New York
Fanuary 31, 2003

Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
BlackRock, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of
financial condition of BlackRock, Inc. as of December 31,
2001, and the consolidated statements of income, changes in
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the two years
in the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s manage-
ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing stan-
dards generally accepted in the United States. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant est-
mates made by management, as well as evaluating the over-
all financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consoli-
dated financial position of BlackRock, Inc. at December 31,
2001, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the two years in the period ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States.

Samat ¢ MLLP

New York, New York
Fanuary 31, 2003




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $255,234 $186,451
Accounts receivable 113,789 94,090
Investments (cost: $211,325 and $143,600, respectively) 208,743 139,126
Property and equipment, net 93,923 70,510
Intangible assets (net of accumulated amortization of $67,973 and

$67,149, respectively) 182,827 181,688
Receivable from affiliates 281 2,569
Other assets 9,391 10,044

Total assets $864,188 $684,478
Liabilides
Accrued compensation $173,047 $146,019
Accounts payable and accrued liabilites

Affiliate 23,977 15,972

Other 13,986 19,075
Acquired management contract obligadon 6,578 7344
Other liabilities 11,9246 9,951

Total liabilities 229,534 198,361
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, class A, 17,606,801 and

15,916,944 shares issued, respectvely 176 159
Common stock, class B, 47,629,373 and

48,674,607 shares issued, respectively 476 487
Additional paid-in capital 199,990 184,041
Retained earnings 440,747 307,498
Unearned compensation (1,535) (1,927)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 231 (3,537
Treasury stock, class A, at cost

38,714 and 0 shares held, respectively (1,469) —
Treasury stock, class B, at cost

281,281 and 125,633 shares held, respectively (3,962) (604)

Total stockholders’ equity 634,654 486,117
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $864,188 $684,478

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial starements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except share data) 2002 2001 2000
Revenue
Investment advisory and administration fees

Mutual funds $212,214 $217,361 $229,259

Separate accounts 306,951 278,126 223,521
Other income

Affiliate 5,000 5,000 5,000

Other 52,812 32,657 19,092
Total revenue 576,977 533,144 476,872
Expense
Employee compensation and benefits 230,634 ¢ 215,118 189,684
Fund administration and servicing costs — affiliates 40,304 60,829 75,686
General and administration

Affiliates 8,013 7,998 7,759

Other 82,063 68,569 50,552
Amortization of intangible assets 824 ¢ 10,454 10,153
Total expense 361,838 362,968 333,834
Operating income 215,139 170,176 143,038
Non-operating income (expense)
Investment income 9,492 11,576 7,734
Interest expense (683) (761) (855)
Total non-operating income (expense) 8,809 10,815 6,879
Income before income taxes 223,948 ¢ 180,991 149,917
Income taxes 90,699 73,557 62,556
Net income $133,249 $107,434 $87,361
Earnings per share

Basic $2.06 $1.67 $1.37

Diluted $2.04 ¢ $1.65 $1.35
Weighted-average shares outstanding

Basic 64,756,290 64,271,538 63,886,353

Diluted 65,307,548 64,926,199 64,590,707

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statesents.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES
IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Year ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

Accumulated
Other
Common Stock Additional Unearned Comprehensive Treasury StO_Ck Toul
Class Class Paid-In Retained Compen- Income Class Class Stockholders’

(Dollar amounts in thousands) A B Capital Earnings sation (Loss) A B Equity
December 31, 1999 $90 $549 $169,554 $112,703  ($2,139) (8231 — —  $280,526
Net income — —_ — 87,361 — —_ — — 87,361
Purchase of treasury stock — — — — — — (16) — (16)
Conversion of class B

common stock to class A

common stock 5 5) — — — — — — —
Issuance of shares to

Nonemployee Directors — — 111 — — — — — 111
Proceeds from issuance of

class A common stock — — 222 — — — — — 222
Expenses from issuance of

class A common stock, net — — (91) — — — — — 91
Issuance of class B

common stock — 1 1,008 — (744) —_— — — 265
Amortization of discount on

issuance of class B

common stock — — — —_ 757 — — — 757
Stock options exercised — — 742 — — — — — 742
Tax benefit from stock

options exercised — — 610 — — — — — 610
Foreign currency

translation loss — — — — — (408) — — (408)
Unrealized loss on

investments, net — — — — — (1,838) — — (1,838)
December 31, 2000 95 545 172,156 200,064  (2,126) (2,477) (16) — 368,241
Net income — — — 107,434 — — — — 107,434
Conversion of class B

common stock to class A

common stock 56 (56) —_ — — — — — —
Issuance of class A

common stock 6 — 8,817 — — — — — 8,823
Issuance of class B

common stock —_ — 502 —_ (206) — — — 296
Amortization of discount on

issuance of class B

common stock — — — — 1,100 — — — 1,100
Treasury stock transactions 2 )] (3,063) — (695) — 16 (604) (4,346)
Tax benefit from stock

options exercised — — 5,629 — — — — — 5,629
Foreign currency translation loss — — — — — (294) — — (294)
Unrealized loss on

investments, net — — — — — (766) — — (766)
December 31, 2001 159 487 184,041 307,498 (1,927  (3,537) — (604) 486,117
Net income — — — 133,249 — — — — 133,249
Conversion of class B

common stock to class A

common stock 1 {an — — — — — — —
Issuance of class A

common stock 6 — 11,969 — (864) — — — 11,111
Issuance of class B

common stock — — 183 —_ — — — — 183
Amortization of discount on

issuance of class B

common stock — — — — 1,256 — — — 1,256
Treasury stock transactions — — (3,882) — — — (1,469 (3,358) (8,709)
Tax benefit from stock

options exercised — — 7,679 — — — — — 7,679
Foreign currency translation gain — — — — — 1,715 — — 1,715
Unrealized gain on

investments, net — — — — — 2,053 — — 2,053
December 31, 2002 $176 $476 $199,990 $440,747 ($1,535) $231 ($1,469) ($3,962) $634,654




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $133,249 $107,434 $87,361
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 20,238 26,021 19,995
Stock-based compensation 4,926 4,483 868
Deferred income taxes 7,053 (8,460) (2,318)
Tax benefit from stock-based compensation 7,679 5,629 610
Purchase of investments, trading, net (17,350) — —
Net loss on investments 2,031 — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in accounts receivable (19,699) (10,722) (18,074)
Decrease (increase) in receivable from affiliates 2,288 2,653) 627
Decrease (increase) in other assets 946 29 (4,646)
Increase in accrued compensation 33,349 22,775 39,751
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued habilities 4,137) 16,493 (14,618)
Decrease in accrued interest payable to affiliates — — (705)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 1,472 6,344 (244)
Cash provided by operating activities 172,045 167,373 108,607
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (42,827) (40,479) (32,761)
Purchase of investments (52,245) (126,576) (12,899)
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired (1,733) — —
Cash used in investing activities (96,805) (167,055) (45,660)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of note and loan payable to affiliates — — (28,200)
Issuance of class A common stock 2,658 1,199 873
Issuance of class B common stock 332 296 265
Purchase of treasury stock (12,444) (7,407) (16)
Reissuance of treasury stock 2,048 445 —
Acquired management contract obligation payment (766) (696) —
Cash used in financing activities (8,172) (6,163) (27,078)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,715 294 (408)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 68,783 6,139) 35,461
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 186,451 192,590 157,129
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $255,234 $186,451 $192,590

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




NQOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except share data)

BUSINESS

BlackRock, Inc. (together, with its subsidiaries, “BlackRock”
or the “Company”) provides diversified investment manage-
ment services to institutional clients, including certain sub-
sidiaries and affiliates of The PNC Financial Services Group,
Inc. (“PNC”), and to individual investors through various
investment vehicles. Institutional investment management
services primarily consists of the active management of fixed
income, equity and liquidity client accounts and the manage-
ment of the BlackRock Provident Institutional Funds (“BPIF”), a
money market mutual fund family serving the institutional
market, Individual investor services primarily consists of the
management of the Company’s sponsored open-end and
closed-end mutual funds (“BlackRock Funds”). BlackRock
Advisors, Inc. (“BA”), BlackRock Institutional Management

Corporadon (“*BIMC”), BlackRock Financial Management,
Inc. (“BFM”), BlackRock International, Ltd. (“BI”) and
BlackRock Capital Management, Inc. (“BCM”) are registered
investment advisers under the Investment Advisers Act of
1940 while BlackRock Investments, Inc. (“BIL”) is a registered
broker dealer under the Securides Exchange Act of 1934,

Basis of Presentation

BlackRock is indirectly majority owned by PNC. The con-
solidated financial statements of BlackRock include the assets,
liabilities and earnings of its wholly-owned subsidiaries BA,
BIMC, BFM, BI, BCM, BII, BlackRock Funding, Inc.,
BlackRock Overseas Investments Corporation, BlackRock
Portfolio Holdings, Inc. and their subsidiaries.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

Significant intercompany accounts and transactions
between the consolidated entities have been eliminated.
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilides at the date of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reportng periods. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term,
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are held at major
financial institutions and in money market mutual funds, in
which the Company is exposed to market and credit risk.

Investments

The Company’s investments are classified as trading or avail-
ableforsale. Investments, trading, representinvestments made
by the Company and held in a Rabbi trust with respect to
senior employee elections under the BlackRock Voluntary and
Involuntary Deferred Compensation Plansand are recorded at
fair market value with unrealized gains and losses included in
the accompanying consolidated statements of income as
investment income (expense). Investments, available for sale,
consist primarily of investments in BlackRock funds, munici-
pal bonds and certain instituional and private placement port-
folios (“alternative investment products”) and are stated at
market values. Securities, which are not readily marketable

(alternative investment products), are stated at their fair mar-
ket value as determined by the Company’s management.

The resulting unrealized gains and losses on investments,
available for sale, are included in the accumulated other
comprehensive income or loss component of stockholders’
equity, net of tax. Realized gains and losses on trading and
available for sale investments are calculated on a specific
identification basis and, along with interest and dividend
income, are included in investment income (expense) in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income. The
Company’s management periodically assesses impairment
on investments to determine if it is other than temporary.
Several of the Company’s available for sale investments rep-
resent equity interests in collateralized debt obligations in
which the Company acts in the capacity of collateral man-
ager. The Company reviews cash flow estimates throughout
the life of each collateralized debt obligation to determine if
an impairment charge is required to be taken through cur-
rent earnings. If the updated estimate of future cash flows
(taking into account both timing and amount) is less than
the last revised estimate and the reduction in estimated
future cash flows is deemed other than temporary, an
impairment is recognized based on the excess of the carry-
ing amount of the investment over its fair value. In evaluat-
ing impairments on all other available for sale securities, the
Company considers the length of time and the extent to
which the security’s market value has been less than its cost,
the financial conditions and near-term prospects of the
security’s issuer and the Company’s intended holding
period for the security. Any impairment on investments
which is deemed other than temporary is recorded in non-
operating income (expense) on the consolidated statements
of income as a realized loss.




Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Depreciation generally is provided on the
straight-line method over the esdmated useful lives of the
various classes of property and equipment. Accelerated meth-
ods are used for income tax purposes. Leasehold improve-
ments are amortized using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives or lease terms, whichever is shorter.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of goodwill, indefinite-lived
intangible assets and intangible assets with a finite life. For
each of the two years in the period ended December 31,
2001, goodwill was amortized on a straight-line basis over 25
years. The Company adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets,” effective on January 1, 2002, as
required. SFAS No. 142 changed the accounting for goodwill
from an amortization method to an impairment-only
approach. The amortzation of goodwill, including goodwill
recognized relating to past business combinations, ceased
upon adoption of the new statement. Impairment testing for
goodwill at a reportng unit level is required on at least an
annua] basis. The new statement also addresses other
accounting matters, disclosure requirements and financial
statement presentation issues relating to goodwill and other
intangible assets. As a result of the cessation of amortization
expense related to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, the
Company’s diluted earnings per share has increased by
approximately $.08 per share during the year ended
December 31, 2002. The Company periodically evaluates
the carrying value of intangible assets. Any impairment
would be recognized when the future operating cash flows
expected to be derived from such intangible assets are less
than their carrying value. In such instances, impairment, if
any, is measured on 2 discounted future cash flow basis.

Software Costs

The Company has adopted Statement of Position (“SOP”)
98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” SOP 98-1
requires the capitalization of certain costs incurred in con-
nection with developing or obtaining software for internal
use. Qualifying software costs of approximately $5,370 and
$5,100 have been capitalized for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and are being amortized
over an estimated useful life of three years.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company follows Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-based
Compensation,” and adopted the intrinsic value method for
all arrangements under which employees receive shares of
stock or other equity instruments of the employer or the
employer incurs liabilities to employees in amounts based on
the price of its stock for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2002. Fair value disclosures are included
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to SFAS No. 123, the Company elected to account
for its 1999 Stock Award and Incentive Plan (the “Award

Plan”) and shares issued under the BlackRock, Inc. 2001
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (‘ESPP”) under Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. (“APB”) 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees,” and adopted the disclosure only
provisions of SFAS No. 123 for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2002.

The Company will expense stock-based compensation using
the fair value-based method beginning with grants made in
2003. The fair value of each option grant will be estimated
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Assuming
recurring stock option grants of similar size and value to
those made during 1999 and 2000, this change in accounting
policy will not have a material impact on diluted earnings per
share in 2003. The annual impact is expected to increase over
the next five years under the transitional guidance currently
provided by SFAS No. 123, as amended. When fully imple-
mented, the impact, assuming recurring stock option grants
of similar size and value to those made during 1999 and 2000,
is expected to result in an annual reduction of 3% to diluted
earnings per share.

Treasury Stock

The Company records common stock purchased for treasury
at cost. At the date of subsequent reissuance, the treasury
stock account is reduced by the cost of such stock on the first-
in, first-out basis.

Revenue Recognition

Investment advisory and administraton fees are recognized
as the services are performed. Such fees are primarily based
on predetermined percentages of the market values of the
assets under management. Investment advisory and adminis-
tration fees for mutual funds are shown net of fees waived
pursuant to expense limitatons.

The Company also receives performance fees or an incentive
allocation from alternative investment products and certain
separate accounts. These performance fees are earned upon
attaining specified investment return thresholds. Such fees
are recorded as earned. Should the alternative investment
products and separate accounts subject to performance fees
not continue to meet specified investment return thresholds,
performance fees and related employee compensation
expense previously recorded may be subject to reversal. At
December 31, 2002, no performance fees recorded by the
Company are subject to reversal.

BlackRock provides a variety of risk management and invest-
ment system services to insurance companies, finance compa-
nies, pension funds, consultants, mutual fund sponsors,
REITs, commercial and mortgage banks, savings institutions
and government agencies. These services are provided under
the brand name BlackRock Solutions and include a wide array of
risk management services and enterprise investment system
outsourcing to clients. Fees earned for BlackRock Solutions ser-
vices are either based on predetermined percentages of the
market value of assets subject to the services or on fixed
monthly or quarterly payments. The fees earned on risk man-
agement advisory and investment system assignments are
recorded as other income.
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Administration and Servicing Costs

In connection with mutual funds advised by the Company,
certain administration and servicing costs are expensed
as incurred.

Comprehensive Income

All changes in equity except those resulting from investments
by shareholders and distributions to shareholders are
included in comprehensive income (loss).

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing
net income applicable to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of shares of common stock out-
standing. Diluted earnings per common share is computed
by dividing net income by the total weighted average num-
ber of shares of common stock outstanding and common
stock equivalents. Diluted earnings per share is computed
using the treasury stock method.

Business Segments

The Company operates predominantly in one business seg-
ment, the investment advisory and asset management business.

Disclosure of Fair Value

SFAS No. 107, “Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments,” requires disclosure of estimated fair values of
certain on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments. The
methods and assumptions are set forth below:

® Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, other assets,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities are carried at cost
which approximates fair value due to the short maturides.

® The fair value of investments is based on quoted market
prices. If securities are not readily marketable (alternative
investment products), values are stated at fair value as
determined by the Company’s management.

® At December 31, 2002, the estimated fair value of the
acquired management contract obligaton based on cur-
rent rates offered to the Company for debt with a similar
remaining maturity was approximately $7,982.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activites,” as amended by SFAS No. 137 and No.
138, establishes accounting and reporting standards for
derivative instruments, including certain derivatives embed-
ded in other contracts and for hedging activities. SFAS No.
133 generally requires an entity to recognize all derivatives as
either assets or liabilites in the statement of financial condi-
tion and measure those investments at fair value. The
Company adopted the new statement as of January 1, 2001.

The Company uses derivative financial instruments primarily
for purposes of hedging exposures to fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates of its assets and liabilides. Deriva-
tive financial instruments are not entered into for trading or

speculative purposes. The premium or discount on an instru-
ment is amortized over the life of the contract. Changes in the
fair value of the Company’s derivative financial instruments
are recognized in current earnings, offset by the correspond-
ing gain or loss on the related foreign denominated assets or
liabilities, in the consolidated statements of income.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability
method prescribed by SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes.” Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recog-
nized for the future tax consequences attributable to the
differences between the financial statement carrying amount
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.

Reclassification of Prior Periods’ Statements

Certain items previously reported have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation.

Recent Accounting Developments
a) Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting
for Costs Associated with Exit and Disposal Activities,”
which nullified Emerging Issue Task Force Issue (“Issue”)
No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee
Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring),” by
requiring the recognition of a liability for a cost associated
with an exit or disposal activity only when the liability is
incurred. Under the Issue, a liability for an exit cost could
have been recorded at the date of an entity’s commitment to
an exit plan. The adoption of this statement, which is effec-
tive January 1, 2003, is not expected to have a material impact
on the Company’s financial statements.

b) Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation
(“FIN”) No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees
of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN No. 45 significandy
changes current practice in the accounting for, and disclosure
of, guarantees. Under FIN No. 45, certain guarantees are
required to be recorded at fair value, in contrast to current
practice which is generally to record a liability only when a
loss is probable and reasonably estimable, as those terms are
defined in SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.”
FIN No. 45 also requires a guarantor to make significant new
disclosures, even when the likelihood of making any pay-
ments under the guarantee is remote. The disclosure
requirements of FIN No. 45 became effective for any interim
or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002 while the
interpretation’s initdal recognition provisions are applicable
on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after
December 31, 2002. The adoption of this interpretation is
not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
financial statements.




¢) Stock-based Compensation

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation~Transition and
Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123.”
SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123 to provide alternative
methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee com-
pensation. In addition, the statement amends the disclosure
requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclo-
sures in both annual and interim financial statements about
the method of accounting for stock-based compensation and
the effect of the method used on reported results. As discussed
previously, in adopting SFAS No. 148, the Company has
elected to apply the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123
to all employee awards granted, modified or settled after
January 1, 2003. When fully implemented, the impact to the
Company’s financial statements, assuming recurring stock
option grants of similar size and value to those made during
1999 and 2000, is expected to result in an annual reduction of
3% to diluted earnings per share.

d) Consolidation

InJanuary 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities.” FIN No. 46 addresses the appli-
cation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51,“Consolidated
Financial Statements,” to variable interestentides (“VIE”) and
generally would require that the assets, liabilities and results of
operations of a VIE be consolidated into the financial state-
ments of the enterprise that has a controlling financial interest
init. The interpretation provides a framework for determining
whether an entity should be evaluated for consolidation based
on voting interests or significant financial support provided to
the entity (“variable interests”).

An entity is classified as a VIE if total equity is not sufficient
to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support or its equity investors lack the
direct or indirect ability to make decisions about an entity’s
activities through voting rights, absorb the expected losses of
the entity if they occur or receive the expected residual
returns of the entity if they occur. Once an entity is deter-
mined to be a VIE, its assets, liabilities and results of opera-
tions should be consolidated with those of its primary
beneficiary. The primary beneficiary of a VIE is the entty
which either will absorb a majority of the VIE’s expected
losses or has the right to receive a majority of the VIEs
expected residual returns. The expected losses and residual
returns of a VIE include expected variability in its net income
or loss, fees to decision makers and fees to guarantors of sub-
stantally all VIE assets or liabilides and are calculated in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Concept
No. 7, “Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in
Accountdng Measurements.”

A public enterprise with a variable interest in a VIE created
before January 31, 2003, must apply FIN No. 46 to that VIE
as of the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting
period beginning after June 15, 2003. Additionally, if it is
reasonably possible that an enterprise will consolidate or dis-
close information about a VIE when the guidance becomes
effective, there are several disclosure requirements effective
for all financial statements issued after January 31, 2003.

Pursuant to the conceptual framework set forth in FIN No.
46, the Company’s management has concluded that the con-
solidation of the assets, liabilities and results of operations of
several sponsored investment vehicles which have been
deemed VIEs in its consolidated financial statemnents as of and
for the period ended September 30, 2003 is reasonably possi-
ble. BlackRock’s maximum potendal loss related to these VIEs
is limited to the amount of its respective equity ownership in
each of these investment vehicles and consequently has no
risk of loss with respect to the debt of these investment
vehicles. Additionally, the Company has neither guaranteed
nor is contractually liable for any of the VIEs’ obligations.
Pertinent information as of December 31, 2002 relating to
these VIEs is as follows:

e BlackRock acts as collateral asset manager for four collat-
eralized bond obligation funds (“CBOs”) and one collater-
alized loan obligation fund (“CLO”) organized as
corporations or limited liability companies. The funds
invest in high yield securities and offer opportunity for
high return and are subject to greater risk than traditional
investment products. These funds are structured to take
advantage of the yield differential between their assets and
liabilities and have terms to maturity from eight to twelve
years. At December 31, 2002, aggregate assets and debt in
the CBOs and CLO was approximately $2.1 billion and
$2.1 billion, respectively. BlackRock’s equity ownership
was approximately $10.4 million at December 31, 2002.

As currently organized, the following entities would be con-
sidered VIEs under FIN 46. However, management has
identified, and intends to implement, certain changes to the
equity ownership and/or control structure of these entities
that management believes would remove them from the
scope of FIN 46 and, as a result, these entities would not be
required to be consolidated in the third quarter of 2003.

¢ BlackRock serves as investment manager for two fixed
income hedge funds that engage in trading of fixed income
securities through both a limited liability company
(“LLC”) and a corporate entity. These funds invest in the
global bond markets on a more leveraged basis and/or
concentrated basis than BlackRock’s traditional fixed
income products with diversification of risk exposure in
each portfolio. BlackRock serves as the managing member
of the LLC and the investment manager of the corporate
entity which had combined assets and liabilides of approx-
imately $37.9 billion and $36.4 billion, respectively, at
December 31, 2002. BlackRock’s equity ownership was
approximately $7.5 million at December 31, 2002.

® On November 4, 2002, BlackRock purchased certain
assets and liabilities of Cyllenius Partners GP, LLC and
Cyllenius Capital Management LP and now serves as the
managing member of two LLCs and the investment man-
ager for a corporation (the “Cyllenius Funds”) which
engage in the trading of equity securites both long and
short. At December 31, 2002, the Cyllenius Funds had
total assets and liabilities of approximately $168.2 million
and $44.8 million, respectively. BlackRock holds no own-
ership interest in the Cyllenius Funds.
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Management will continue to assess this interpretation’s
impact on its consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the FASB is discussing implementation guidelines associ-
ated with FIN No. 46 which could change our current

assessment of its impact. Therefore, additional entities
may be subject to consolidation upon BlackRock's final
adoption of FIN No. 46.

2. INVESTMENTS

A summary of the cost and fair market value of investments is as follows:

Gross Unrealized

Fair Market
December 31, 2002 Cost Gains Losses Value
Trading $17,350 $0 $1,453 $15,897
‘Total investments, trading 17,350 — 1,453 15,897
Mutual funds 158,262 156 — 158,418
Municipal debt securides 13,823 448 — 14,271
Collateralized bond obligations 12,108 — 1,733 10,375
Other 9,782 — — 9,782
Total investments, available for sale 193,975 604 1,733 192,846
Total investments, trading
and available for sale $211,325 $604 $3,186 $208,743
December 31, 2001
Mutual funds $129,304 $0 $1,882 $127,422
Collateralized bond obligatons 12,689 — 2,607 10,082
Other 1,607 15 — 1,622
Total investments, available for sale $143,600 $15 $4.,489 $139,126

All municipal debt securities have a maturity date in excess of
ten years and an investment rating (provided by major rating
agencies) of “AAA” or its equivalent.

BlackRock acts as investment advisor to all these
investments.

A summary of sale actvity in the Company’s available for sale
portfolio during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000 is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Sales proceeds $303,388 $37,199 $28
Gross realized gains $3,903 $188 $11
Gross realized losses 4,152) — —
Net realized gain (loss) ($249) $188 $11

During the year ended December 31, 2002, gross realized
losses include impairments of the Company’s investments in

mutual funds and collateralized bond obligations approxi-
mating $1.8 million and $2.2 million, respectively.




3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following:

Estimated useful

December 31,

life — in years 2002 2001

Land N/A $3,564 $3,564
Building 39 16,972 16,946
Building improvements 15 5,957 5,286
Equipment and computer software 3-5 72,083 54,388
Leasehold improvements 2-17 43,707 8,721
Furniture and fixtures 7 16,982 12,712
Construction in progress N/A — 14,979
159,265 116,596

Less accumulated depreciation 65,342 46,086
Property and equipment, net $93,923 $70,510

N/A - Not applicable

Building and building improvements reflect the new building
located in Wilmington, Delaware. The remaining balance in
the construction in progress account at December 31, 2001
primarily represents expenditures associated with occupying
a new headquarters site in New York City located at 40 East
52nd Street.

Depreciation expense was approximately $19,414, $15,567
and $9,842 for the years ended December 31,2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively.

4. OTHER INCOME

Other income consists of the following:

Year ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Risk management and investment system services $51,860 $34,375 $20,566
Other 5,952 3,282 3,526
$57,812 - $37,657 $24,092
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets at December 31, 2002 consist of the following:

December 31, 2002

Weighted-avg.

estimated Gross Carrying Accumulated Total Intangible

useful life Amount Amortization Assets

Goodwill N/A $240,797 $65,842 $174,955

Management contracts acquired N/A 1,677 — 1,677
Total goodwill and unamortized

intangible assets 242,474 65,842 176,632

Management contract acquired 10.0 8,040 2,111 5,929

" Other 2.2 286 20 266

Total amortized intangible assets 9.7 8,326 2,131 6,195

Total intangible assers $250,800 $67,973 $182,827

Weighted-avg.

December 31, 2001

estimated. Gross Carrying Accumulated Total Intangible

useful life Amount Amortization Assets

Goodwill 25.0 $240,797 $65,842 $174,955
Management contracts acquired 10.0 8,040 1,307 6,733
24.5 $248,837 $67,149 $181,688

N/A ~ Not applicable

a) Goodwill

The consolidated financial statements reflect the results of
operations of the former BlackRock Financial Management,
L.P. and BFM Advisory L.P, which were acquired by PNC
on February 28, 1995. Goodwill recognized at acquisition
approximated $240,000 and was amortized on a straight-line
basis over 25 years.

b) Management Contract Acquired

On May 15, 2000, BlackRock entered into a contract in con-
nection with the agreement and plan of merger of CORE

Cap, Inc. with Anthracite Capital, Inc., a BlackRock man-
aged REIT. This agreement assigns the managerial rights
and dudes of CORE Cap, Inc.’s former manager to
BlackRock for consideration in the amount of $12,500 to be
paid by BlackRock over a ten-year period. The present value
of the acquired contract using an imputed interest rate of
10% was $8,040 on the date of acquisition. This amount is
recorded as an intangible asset and is being amortized on a
straight-line basis over ten years.




The following table reflects the adopdon of SFAS No. 142:

Year ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Reported net income $133,249 $107,434 $87,361
Goodwill amortization, net of tax — 5,166 4,984
Adjusted net income $133,249 $112,600 $92,345
Basic earnings per share:
Reported $2.06 $1.67 $1.37
Goodwill amortization, net of tax — 0.08 0.08
Adjusted $2.06 $1.75 $1.45
Diluted earnings per share: .
Reported $2.04 $1.65 $1.35
Goodwill amortization, net of tax — 0.08 0.08
Adjusted $2.04 $1.73 $1.43

Future expected amortization of intangible assets expense is
as follows:

2003 $906
2004 906
2005 824
2006 804

6. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company currently enters into forward foreign cur-
rency exchange contracts with a major multinational finan-
cial institution to hedge foreign currency exposures related to
non-dollar denominated seed investments in its consolidated
statements of financial condition. At December 31, 2002, the
contracts had a notional amount and unrealized depreciation
of $20,904 and (§794), respectively. All contracts mature on
June 30, 2003. The Company had no derivative financial
instruments outstanding at December 31, 2001.

By using derivative financial instruments to hedge exposure
to changes in exchange rates, the Company exposes itself to
market risk. Market risk from forward foreign currency
exchange contracts is the effect on the value of a financial
instrument that results from a change in currency exchange
rates. The Company manages exposure to market risk asso-
clated with foreign currency exchange contracts by establish-
ing and monitoring parameters that limit the types and
degree of market risk that may be undertaken.

7. COMMITMENTS

a) Lease Commitments

The Company leases its primary office space under agree-
ments which expire through 2017. Future minimum com-
mitments under these operating leases, net of rental
reimbursements of $4,707 through 2005 from a sublease
arrangement, are as follows:

2003 $11,519
2004 11,393
2005 10,854
2006 10,897
2007 10,897
Thereafter 117,130

$172,690

In connection with certain lease agreements, the Company is
responsible for escalaton payments. Occupancy expense
amounted to $19,263, $12,560 and $9,707 for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

b) Acquired Management Contract Obligation

In connection with the management contract acquired asso-
ciated with the agreement and plan of merger of CORE Cap,
Inc. with Anthracite Capital, Inc., a BlackRock managed
REIT, the Company recorded an $8,040 liability using an
imputed interest rate of 10%. For the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and 2001, the related expense was $683 and
$761, respectively. At December 31, 2002, the future com-
mitment under the agreement is as follows:

2003 $1,500
2004 1,500
2005 1,500
2006 1,000
2007 1,000
Thereafter 3,000

9,500
Less: imputed interest 2,922

$6,578

Present value of management contract
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o) Indemnifications

In the ordinary course of business, BlackRock enters into
contracts with third parties pursuant to which the third par-
tes provide services on behalf of BlackRock. In many of the
contracts, BlackRock agrees to indemnify the third party ser-
vice provider under certain circumstances. The terms of the
indemnity vary from contract to contract and the amount of
indemnification liability, if any, cannot be determined.

d) Other

On November 4, 2002, the Company acquired certain assets
and liabilides of Cyllenius Capital Management LLC

(“Cyllenius”), an equity hedge fund manager, for $1.9 million
in cash at closing. The ultimate purchase price for Cyllenius
may include future contingent payments which are perfor-
mance-based and are not subject to a maximum or the con-
dnued employment of former Cyllenius employees with the
Company. The contingent payments will be made on or
about August 31, 2003 and January 30, 2004.

The Company has entered into a commitment to invest
$7,681 in Carbon Capital, Inc., an alternatve investment
fund sponsored by BlackRock, of which $5,395 remained
unfunded at December 31, 2002.

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Involuntary Deferved Compensation Plan

Effective January 2002, the Company adopted an
Involuntary Deferred Compensation Plan for the purpose of
providing deferred compensation and retention incentives to
key officers and employees. The Involuntary Deferred
Compensation Plan provides for a mandatory deferral of up
to 15% of annual incentive compensation. The mandatory
deferral of annual incentive compensadon for services per-
formed in 2002 and 2001 was 10% and 5%, respectively. The
mandatory deferral is matched by BlackRock in an amount
equal to 20%. Incentive compensation vests on a straight-
line basis over a three year vesting period. The matching
contribution and investment income related to the manda-
tory deferral vests on the third year anniversary of the defer-
ral date. The Company funds the obligatdon through the
establishment of a Rabbi trust on behalf of the participants in
the plan.

Voluntary Deferved Compensation Plan

Effective January 2002, the Company adopted a Voluntary
Deferred Compensation Plan which allows participants to
elect to defer between [% and 100% of that portion of his or
her annual incentive compensation not mandatorily deferred
under the BlackRock Involuntary Deferred Compensation
Plan. The participants must specify a deferral period of one,
three, five or ten years. The Company funds the obligation
through the establishment of 2 Rabbi wust on behalf of the
participants in the plan.

The Rabbi trust established for the Involuntary and
Voluntary Deferred Compensation Plans is reflected in
investments as trading securities in the accompanying con-
solidated statements of financial condidon. Any earnings in
the Rabbi trust, including unrealized appreciation (deprecia-
tion), is reflected as non-operatng income or loss and
employee compensation and benefits in equal amounts in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Incentive Savings Plan

The Company’s employees participate in PNC’s Incentive
Savings Plan (“ISP”), a defined contribution plan. Under the

ISP, employee contributions of up to 6% of eligible compen-
sation, subject to Internal Revenue Code limitations, are
matched by the Company. ISP expenses for the Company
were $3,872, $3,397 and $3,758 for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Contri-
butions to the ISP were matched primarily by shares of
BlackRock’s common stock in 2002 and PNC’s common stock
in 2001 and 2000, respectively. 500,000 shares of BlackRock’s
common stock have been reserved for the ISP of which 165,827
shares have been issued as of December 31, 2002.

Postretirerment Benefits

PNC provides certain health care and life insurance benefits
for retired employees. Expenses for postretirement benefits
allocated to the Company by PNC were $354, $276 and
$272 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, accrued
postretirement benefits included in the consolidated state-
ments of financial condition totaled $1,149 and $1,019,
respectively. No separate financial obligation data for the
Company is available with respect to such plan.

Noncontributory Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Certain employees of the Company participate in PNC’s
noncontributory defined benefit pension plan. Retirement
benefits are based on compensation level, age and length of
service. Pension contributions are based on actuarially deter-
mined amounts necessary to fund total benefits payable to
plan participants. During 2000, the Company contributed
approximately $1,600 to the plan and had a prepaid balance
of approximately $1,200 in pension benefit obligaton as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001. These amounts were recorded
in other assets on the consolidated statements of financial
condition. BlackRock incurred $111 in pension expense dur-
ing the year ended December 31, 2002 and did not incur
pension expense during the years ended December 31, 2001
and 2000, respectively.




9. STOCK AWARD AND INCENTIVE PLANS

Stock Award and Incentive Plan

Parsuant to the Company’s Award Plan, optons are granted
at an exercise price not less than the market value of common

Stock option activity during 2000 — 2002 is summarized below:

stack on the date of grant. These options have a ten-year life,
vest ratably over periods ranging from 2-4 years and become
exercisable upon vesting.

Shares under Weighted-avg.

Outstanding at option exercise price
December 31, 1999 1,056,000 $14.00
Granted 1,482,034 43.13
Exercised 53,024 14.00
Canceled 83,500 14.00
December 31, 2000 2,401,510 31.98
Granted 9,693 39.80
Exercised 103,226 14.00
Canceled 68,669 33.21
December 31, 2001 2,239,308 32.80
Granted 3,731,000 37.36
Exercised 130,272 14.00
Canceled 33,672 30.54
December 31, 2002 5,806,364 $36.17

A maximum of 9,000,000 shares of class A common stock are
authorized for issuance under the Award Plan at December 31,
2002. Of this amount, 2,843,371 shares remain available for

future awards. The number of shares vested at December 31,
2002 was 806,925.

Stock options outstanding and exercisable on December 31, 2002 are as follows:

Outstanding shares

Outstanding Weighted-avg. weighted-avg. Exercisable  Exercisable shares

Range of shares under remaining exercise shares under weighted-avg.
exercise prices option contractual life price option exercise price
$14.00 647,637 6.75 $14.00 647,637 $14.00

$32.47 3,000 8.29 32.47 — —

$37.36 3,731,000 9.79 37.36 — —
$40.03-$44.22 1,424,727 7.96 43.12 159,288 42.05
5,806,364 9.00 $36.17 806,925 $19.54

BlackRock Inc. Long-Term Retention and Incentive Plan

On October 15,2002, the Company finalized the BlackRock,
Inc. Long-Term Retention and Incendve Plan (the “Reten-
ton Plan”). The Retention Plan permits the grant of up to
$240,000 in deferred compensation awards (the “Compen-
sation Awards”), subject to the achievement of certain perfor-
mance hurdles no later than March 2007. In conjunction with
the Retention Plan, BlackRock may issue up to 3.5 million
stock options with an exercise price equal to market value
under the Award Plan, subject to vesdng at December 31,
2006. As of December 31, 2002, the Company has awarded
approximately 3.4 million stock options and approximately
$130,500 in Compensation Awards. If the performance hur-
dles are achieved, the Compensation Awards will be funded
with up to 4 million shares of BlackRock common stock to be
surrendered by PNC and distributed to Retention Plan par-
dcipants, less income tax withholding. In addition, distributed

shares to Retention Plan participants will include an option to
put such distributed shares back to BlackRock at fair market
value. BlackRock will fund the remainder of the Compensation
Awards with up to $40,000 in cash.

The Compensation Awards will fully vest at the end of any
three-month period beginning in 2005 or 2006 during which
the daily average closing price of the Company’s common
stock is at least $65 per share. If that performance hurdle is
not achieved, the Company’s Compensation Committee of
its Board of Directors may, in its sole discredon, vest a pot-
tion of the Compensation Awards if the Company realizes
compound annual growth in diluted earnings per share of at
least 10% from January 1, 2002 to December 31, 2006 and
the Company’s publicly-traded stock performs in the top half
of its peer group during that time.
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There will be no expense recognition associated with
the Compensation Awards unless vesting occurs or a partial
vesting determination by the Compensation Committee is
considered probable and estimable. Once this determination
is made, BlackRock will record compensation expense for the
pro rata portion of the Compensation Awards earned to date.
Compensation expense for the remaining Compensation
Awards will be recognized ratably from the determination
date through the vesting date and could extend through
March 31, 2007. In addition, at the time that the BlackRock
common stock portion of the Compensation Awards are dis-
tributed, BlackRock will record an increase in stockholders’
equity equal to the fair market value of the BlackRock com-
mon stock distributed to employees from shares surrendered
by PNC.

The terms of the Retention Plan are subject to approval by
BlackRock’s stockholders at the Company’s annual meeting
in May 2003.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On May 2, 2001, BlackRock’s shareholders approved the
adoption of the ESPP, the terms of which allow eligible
employees to purchase shares of the Company’s class A com-
mon stock at 85% of the lesser of fair market value on the

first or last day of each six-month offering period. Eligible
employees may not purchase more than 500 shares of class A
common stock in any six-month offering period. In addition,
for any calendar year in which the option to purchase shares
is outstanding, Section 423 (b)(8) of the Internal Revenue
Code reswricts an ESPP participant from purchasing more
than $25 worth of class A common stock based on its fair
market value. No charge to earnings has been recorded with
respect to the ESPP. The first offering period began on
August 1, 2001. A total of 1,250,000 shares of class A com-
mon stock are available for issuance under the ESPP. The
number of shares issued at December 31, 2002 and estimated
to be issued pursuant to the ESPP for the offering period
ending February 1, 2003 is approximately 120,000.

Pro Forma Net Income and Earnings Per Share

Under APB 25, no compensation costs were recognized
related to the Award Plan and shares issued under the ESPP.
Under SFAS No. 123, compensadon costs related to the
Award Plan and shares issued under the ESPP are measured
at the grant date based on the fair value and are recognized
ratably over the vesting period. The following table sets forth
pro forma net income and diluted earnings per share as if
compensation expense was recognized for stock options and

the ESPP.

2002 2001 2000
Net Income
Reported $133,249 $107,434 $87,361
Pro forma $124,921 $100,943 $85,859
Diluted Earnings Per Share
Reported $2.04 $1.65 $1.35
Pro forma $1.91 $1.55 $1.33

The fair value of option grants and ESPP shares are esti-
mated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with

the following assumptions for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectvely:

2002 2001 2000
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Expected volatility 16.13% to 33.85% 30.04% to 30.69% 31.36%
Risk-free interest 1.69% to 1.76% 237% 10 5.37% 5.88%
Expected term 8 years 7 years 7 years

The weighted-average fair value of the options granted and
ESPP shares in 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $15.04, $10.83 and
$19.92 per share, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company hasa Long-term Deferred Compensation Plan
(the “Plan”) to provide a competitive long-term incentive for

key officers and employees. The awards vest through 2003 and
are expensed onastraight-line method over the respective vest-
ing periods. Compensation expense under the Plan for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $2,396,
$3,592 and $5,904, respectively.




10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries provide
investment advisory and administration services to the

BlackRock Funds, BPIF, the BlackRock Closed-end Funds and
other commingled funds.

Revenues for services provided to these mutual funds including amounts earned from PNC related accounts are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2002 | 2001 2000
Investment advisory and administration fees:
BlackRock Open-end Funds:
PNC £58,145 $88,524 $111,852
Other 25,502 33,952 40,066
BlackRock Closed-end Funds — Other 41,591 30,474 33,916
BlackRock Provident Institutional Funds*®
PNC 14,203 11,900 5,471
Other* 71,912 51,788 33,556
STIF — PNC 861 723 4,398
$212,214 $217,361 $229,259

* Includes the International Dollar Reserve Fund I, Ltd., 2 Cayman Islands open-ended limited liability company.

The Company provides investnent advisory and administra-
tion services to certain PNC subsidiaries, Nomura Asset
Management Co., Ltd. (“Nomura”), a strategic joint venture

Revenues for such services are as follows:

partner, and affiliates of Nomura, for a fee, based on assets
under management. In addition, the Company provides
risk management and private client services to PNC.

Year ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Separate accounts — PNC $5,886 $5,573 $5,255
Separate accounts — Nomura 10,853 5,614 4,448
Private client services — PNC 5,525 5,525 5,525
Other income-risk management — PNC 5,000 5,000 5,000
$27,264 $21,712 $20,228

"Total revenue earned by BlackRock for providing asset manage-
ment and other services to PNC subsidiaries and PNC related
accounts for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 totalled $89,620, $117,245 and $137,501, respectively.

The Company has entered into varicus memoranda of
understanding and co-administration agreements with affili-
ates of PNC pursuant to which the Company pays adminis-
tration fees for BPIF and certain other commingled funds
and service fees for PNC Advisors’ (PNC’s wealth manage-
ment business) clients invested in the BlackRock Funds.

PNC provides general and administration services to the
Company. Charges for such services were based on actual
usage or on defined formulas which, in management’s view,
resulted in reasonable allocations. Additionally, the
Company has entered into subadvisory and consulting agree-
ments with Nomura and an entity whose President and Chief

Executive Officer serves on the Company’s Board of
Directors.

Aggregate expenses included in the consolidated financial
statements for transacdons with related partes are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Fund administration and servicing costs-affiliates $40,304 $60,829 $75,686
General and administration 6,397 6,728 7,617
General and administration-consulting 1,616 1,270 142
Interest expense-affiliates — — 353
$48,317 $68,827 $83,798

Additonally, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of PNC
acts as a financial intermediary associated with the sale of
back-end loaded shares of certain BlackRock funds. This

entty finances broker sales commissions and receives all
associated sales charges.
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Included in accounts receivable is approximately $5,434
and $5,427 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
which primarily represents investment advisory and admin-
istration services provided to Nomura and PNC subsidiaries
and affiliates.

Receivable from affiliates was $281 and $2,569 at Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and 2001, respectvely. The amount primarily

represents a receivable for administration fees earned in con-
nection with services provided to the BlackRock Closed-end
Funds and Anthracite Capital, Inc.

Payable to affiliates was $23,977 and $15,972 at December 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively. These amounts primarily repre-
sentincome taxes payable and fund administration and servic-
ing costs-affiliates payable and are non-interest bearing.

11. NET CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

As a registered broker-dealer, BII is subject to the Uniform
Net Capital requirements under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, which requires maintenance of certain minimum

net capital levels. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, BI%
net capital was $6,010 and $3,826 in excess of regulatory
requirements, respectively.

12. COMMON STOCK

BlackRock’s class A, $0.01 par value, common shares autho-
rized was 250,000,000 shares at December 31, 2002 and
2001. BlackRock’s class B, $0.01 par value, common shares

authorized was 100,000,000 shares at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively.

The Company's common shares issued and outstanding and related activity consist of the following:

Shares issued

Shares outstanding

Common shares

Treasury shares

Class Class Class
A B A B A B

January 1, 2000 9,000,000 54,864,382 — — 9,000,000 54,864,382
Conversion of class B stock

to class A stock 430,145 (430,145) — — 430,145 (430,145)
Issuance of class A

common stock 57,152 — — — 57,152 —_
Issuance of class B

common stock — 75,638 — — — 75,638
Purchase of treasury stock — — (353) — (353) —
December 31, 2000 9,487,297 54,509,875 (353) — 9,486,944 54,509,875
Conversion of class B stock

to class A stock 5,685,484 (5,685,484) — —_ 5,685,484 (5,685,434)
Issuance of class A

common stock 601,105 — 265 — 601,370 —
Issuance of class B

common stock — $8,638 —_— — — 58,638
Treasury stock transactions 143,058 (208,422) 88 (125,633) 143,146 (334,055)
December 31, 2001 15,916,944 48,674,607 — (125,633) 15,916,944 48,548,974
Conversion of class B stock

to class A stock 1,035,424 (1,098,873) 63,449 (16,607) 1,098,873 (1,115,480)
Issuance of class A

common stock 648,471 — — — 648,471 —
Issuance of class B

common stock — 53,639 — — - 53,639
Treasury stock transactions 5,962 — (102,163) (139,041) (96,201) (139,041)
December 31, 2002 17,606,801 47,629,373 (38,714) (281,281) 17,568,087 47,348,092

13. INCOME TAXES

PNC and BlackRock have entered into a tax disaffiliation
agreement that sets forth each party’s rights and obligations
with respect to income tax payments and refunds and

addresses related matters such as the filing of tax returns and
the conduct of audits or other proceedings involving claims

made by taxing authorides.




For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
BlackRock has filed its own consolidated federal income tax
return. BlackRock may file separate state and municipal
income tax returns or may be included in state and/or munic-
ipal income tax returns with one or more PNC subsidiaries
on a combined or unitary basis. If BlackRock is included in

a group’s combined or unitary state or municipal income
tax filing with PNC subsidiaries, BlackRock’ share of the
liability generally will be based upon an allocation to BlackRock
of a percentage of the total tax liability based upon BlackRock’s
level of activity in such state or municipality.

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

Year ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Current:
Federal $62,613 $63,398 $48,668
State and local 18,256 17,272 16,206
Foreign 2,777 1,347 —
Total current 83,646 82,017 64,874
Deferred:
Federal 4,202 (5,289) (1,876)
State and local 2,851 (3,171) (442)
Total deferred 7,053 (8,460) (2,318)
Total $90,699 $73,557 $62,556

Deferred income taxes of approximately $4,061 and $623 dur-
ing the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively, have not been provided on undistributed foreign
earnings of $10,152 and $1,558 during each year. During the
year ended December 31, 2000, the Company did not have
foreign earnings. The Company intends to reinvest these
earnings indefinitely in operations outside the United States.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to sig-
nificant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities, which
are shown net in accounts payable and accrued liabilides-
affiliate in the consolidated statements of financial condition,
consist of the following:

December 31,
2002 2001
Deferred tax assets:
Compensation and benefits $23,267 $19,395
Depreciation 3,503 3,742
Deferred state income taxes 4,827 3,620
Other 3,814 8,241
Gross deferred tax asset 35,411 34,998
Deferred tax liabilities:
Goodwill 31,386 22,863
Other 4,217 3,996
Gross deferred tax liability 35,603 26,859
Net deferred tax asset (liability) (8192) $8,139

A reconciliation of income tax expense with expected federal income tax expense computed at the applicable federal income tax

rate of 35% is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2002 % 2001 % 2000 %

Expected income tax expense § $78,382 35.0% $63,347 35.0% $52,471 35.0%
Increase (decrease) in

income taxes

resulting from:

State and local taxes 13,719 6.1 9,166 5.1 10,247 6.8

Foreign taxes 616) ©0.3) (539) 0.3) — —

Other (786) (0.3) 1,584 0.8 (162) 0.1
Income tax expense $90,699 40.5% $73,558 40.6% $62,556 41.7%
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14. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Net income $133,249 $107,434 $87,361
Other comprehensive gain (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) from investments, available for sale, net 2,053 (766) (1,838)
Foreign currency transladon gain (loss) 1,715 (294 (408)
Comprehensive income $137,017 $106,374 $85,115
15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
Year ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Net income $133,249 $107,434 $87,361
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding 64,756,290 64,271,538 63,886,353
Dilutive potential shares from forward sales 53,639 107,130 173,947
Dilutive potental shares from stock opdons 497,619 547,531 530,407
Dilutive weighted-average shares outstanding 65,307,548 64,926,199 64,590,707
Basic earnings per share $2.06 $1.67 $1.37
Diluted earnings per share $2.04 $1.65 $1.35

16. SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Year ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Cash paid for interest $734 $804 $353
Cash paid for income taxes $75,236 $65,778 $80,046
Supplemental schedule of noncash transactions:
Year ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Issuance of long term obligation in connection with
acquisition of management contract $— $— $8,040
Stock-based compensation $6,321 $6,024 5—
Reissuance of treasury stock, class A at a discount
to its fair market value $587 $807 $—
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BlackRock, Inc. o
40 East-52nd Street
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: BlackRock;Inc‘.’s‘cvl’ass A -(fommon stock is traded ori the New

York Stock Exchange under the symbol BLK. BlackRock’s
class B common stock is not included for listing or quotation
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February 28, 2003, there were 430 class A common

- stockholders of record and 52 class B common stockholders
~ of record. -

Internet Information ’ )
Information on BlackRock’s financial results and its products

~ and services is available on the internet at www.blackrock.com.

Financial Information

BlackRock makes available through its website at
www.blackrock.com, its Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports as soon as
reasonably practicable after such material is electronically
filed with or furnished to the Securites and Exchange
Commission. Further, BlackRock will provide, without
charge to each stockholder upon written request, a copy of
BlackRock’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and
all amendments to those reports. Requests for copies should
be addressed to Joseph Feliciani, Managing Director,
BlackRock, Inc., 40 East 52nd Street, New York, NY 10022.
Requests may also be directed to (212) 409-3519 or via
e-mail to joseph.feliciani@blackrock.com. Copies may also be
accessed electronically by means of the SEC’s home page
on the internet at www.sec.gov.

Inquiries
Individual stockholders should contact stockholder relations
at (212) 409-3441 or via e-mail at mvrel@blackrock.com.

Analysts and institutional investors should contact
Paul L. Audet, Chief Financial Officer, at (212) 409-3555 or
via e-mail at paul.audet@blackrock.com.

News media representatives and others seeking general
information should contact Raymond Ahn at (212) 754-5359
or via e-mail at raymond.abn@blackrock.com.

Annual Steckholders Meeting

All stockholders are invited to attend the BlackRock annual
meeting on Thursday, May 8, 2003, beginning at 9:00 a.m.,
local time. The meeting will be held at the New York
Palace Hotel, 455 Madison Avenue, Fifth Floor, New York,
NY 10022.

Common Stock Prices

The table below sets forth by quarter the range of high and
low sale and quarter-end closing prices for BlackRock class
A common stock.

2002 High Low Close
First Quarter $46.26  $40.90 $44.60
Second Quarter $47.35  $40.45 $44.30
Third Quarter $46.42  $40.00 $41.42
Fourth Quarter $41.28  $34.30 $39.40
2001

First Quarter $44.00 $31.25  $36.00
Second Quarter $37.77  $30.76 $34.29
"Third Quarter $44.50  $34.01  $44.22

Fourth Quarter $44.40 $37.46 $41.70

Dividend Policy

BlackRock has not declared any dividends on its common
stock and presently intends to retain future earnings, if any,
for the development of our business and therefore does not
anticipate that our board of directors will declare or pay any
dividends on the class A common stock and class B common
stock in the foreseeable future. The declaration of and pay-
ment of dividends by BlackRock are subject to the discretion
of our board of directors. BlackRock is a holding company
and, as such, our ability to pay dividends is subject to the
ability of our subsidiaries to provide cash to us. The board of
directors will determine future dividend policy based on our
results of operations, financial conditions, capital requirements
and other circumstances. In addition, because we are a
consolidated subsidiary of PNC, federal banking restrictions
on payments of dividends by PNC Bank may apply to us.
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PERFORMANCE NOTES

Past performance is no guarantee of future results.

Liquidity Mutual Funds: Performance data assumes the reinvest-
ment of dividends and capital gains distributions and reflects the
performanc¢ of the Institutional Class. BlackRock waives fees,
without which performance would be lower. Relative peer group
petformance is based on quartiles from Lipper Inc. Lipper rank-
ings are based on total returns with dividends and distributions
reinvested and do not reflect sales charges. Funds with returns
among the top 25% of a peer group of funds with comparable
objectives are in the first quartile and funds with returns in the next
25% of a peer group are in the second quartile. Some funds have
less than ten years of performance.

The BlackRock Provident Institutional Funds TempFund and
‘TempCash are in the Institutional Money Market Lipper peer
group, and Federal Trust Fund and FedFund are in the
Institutional U.S. Government Money Market Lipper peer group.
T-Fund and Treasury Trust Fund are in the Institutional U.S.
Treasury Lipper peer group. MuniCash and MuniFund are in the
Institutional Tax-Exempt Money Market Lipper peer group.
California Money Fund and New York Money Fund are in the
California Tax-Exempt and New York Tax-Exempt Money Market
Lipper peer groups, respectively. The BlackRock Funds Money
Market, U.S, Treasury Money Market, Municipal Money Market,
New Jersey Municipal Money Market, Ohio Municipal Money
Market, Pennsylvania Municipal Money Market and Virginia
Money Market Portfolios are in the Money Market Lipper
peer group.

As with other money market funds, investments in BlackRock
Provident Institutional Funds and the money market funds of
BlackRock Funds are neither insured nor guaranteed by the U.S.
government and there is no assurance that a fund will maintain a
stable net asset value of $1.00 per share.

Fixed Income Composites Performance: Results do not reflect the
deduction of management/advisory fees and other expenses, which
will reduce a client’s return. For example, assuming an annual gross
return of 8.0% and an annual management/advisory fee of 0.25%,
the net annualized total return of a composite would be 7.74%
over a 5-year period. Frank Russell Company is the source of peer
universe data for fixed income composites. Some BlackRock com-
posites have less than ten years of performance.
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